
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 30 November 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Rural and 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Thursday, 8 December 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Sarah Trotter (Chairman) 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Richard Cleaver, Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren,  
Councillor Hilary Westropp, Councillor Ray Wootten and Vacancy (Alliance SK) 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a 
later date, via the SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
 

 

1.   Public Speaking 
 

The Council welcomes engagement from members of the public. To speak at this 
meeting please register no later than 24 hours prior to the date of the meeting via 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interest 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interest in matters for consideration at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Minutes from the meeting held on 5 October 2022 
 

(Pages 3 - 16) 

5.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

To receive updates on actions agreed at the previous meeting.  

(Pages 17 - 19) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 
6.   Announcements or updates from the Leader of the Council, Cabinet 

Members or the Head of Paid Service 
 

 

7.   Regulatory Compliance 
 

This report seeks to update Committee on actions to ensure regulatory 
compliance of the Council’s social housing landlord function following 
the non-compliance notice issued by the Regulator of Social Housing.  
 

(Pages 21 - 38) 

8.   Armed Forces - Advocacy and Community Engagement 
 

This report provides an update on the new Armed Forces Act and the 
Armed Forces Covenant, implications of those for South Kesteven 
District Council and aspirations under the Council’s Defence Employer 
Recognition Scheme Gold Award. 
 

(Pages 39 - 49) 

9.   Energy Efficiency - Grant Funding 
 

This report seeks to update the Committee on the energy efficiency 
measures being delivered within the Council’s housing stock with the 
support of grant funding that has been awarded to deliver these 
improvements. Also to inform the Committee of the recent submission to 
the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) by the Council. 
 

(Pages 51 - 63) 

10.   Mid-term performance indicators 
 

This Mid-Year update report outlines South Kesteven District Councils 
performance against the Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) for the year of 2022/23. 
 

(Pages 65 - 82) 

11.   Progress report on Choice-based lettings in line with the Housing 
Allocation Policy 
 

This report seeks to update Committee on progress in relation to the 
implementation of Choice-Based Lettings following the adoption of the 
Housing Allocation Policy. 
 

(Pages 83 - 91) 

12.   Work Programme 2022-2023 
 

To receive the Work Programme for 2022-2023 
 

(Pages 93 - 97) 

13.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



1 
 

Minutes  
 

Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  
 

Wednesday, 5 October 2022, 2.00 pm  
 

Council Chamber - South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. 
NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 

Councillor Sarah Trotter (Chairman) 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Richard Cleaver 
Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
 

Cabinet Members present 
 

Councillor Annie Mason (Cabinet Member for People & Safer Communities) 
Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing & Property) 
Councillor Linda Wootten (Cabinet Member for Governance & Licensing) 
 

Other Members present  
 

Councillor Harish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
 

Officers  
 

Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Craig Spence (Assistant Director of Housing) 
Claire Moses (Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service) 
James Welbourn (Democratic Services Manager) 

 

Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 
14. Public Speaking 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter noted that he had submitted a question relating to a 
comment made at a recent Full Council meeting. Councillor Ashley Baxter accepted 
Officer advice that the question did not fall under the remit of this Committee and 
therefore, did not proceed to ask it.   

 
15. Apologies for absence 

 
All Committee Members were present. 

 

3

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Councillor Virginia Moran filled the Alliance SK vacancy for this meeting. 
 

16. Disclosure of Interest 
 

There were none.  
 

17. Minutes from the meeting held on 23 June 2022 
 

Members considered the minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2022. It was 
proposed, seconded, and AGREED that the minutes were a true and accurate 
record. 

 
18. Minutes from the Joint Meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held on 27 June 2022 

 
Members considered the minutes of the Joint meeting of the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 27 June 2022. It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED that 
the minutes were a true and accurate record. 

 
19. Updates from the previous meeting 

 
The Chairman provided an update on the action relating to the lack of attendance 
from PCSO’s and representatives of Lincolnshire Police at Parish Council meetings. 

 
There had been a new team leading the Police locally, who wanted to seek a 
process of engagement and were recruiting 7 more PCSO’s for the area.  

 
It was confirmed that PCSO’s would aim to attend Parish Council meetings at least 
once a year to discuss local issues or would provide regular reports specific to each 
Parish Council in relation to crime. 

 
ACTION: For the Chairman to circulate email addresses to the Committee of 
the new team/Senior Officers leading the Police locally.    

 
One Member requested a Crime Disorder meeting to be scheduled at a future 
Committee meeting for the Police to provide an update.  

 
It was queried as to what the best contactable number for the Police on a Friday 
and Saturday evening would be. 

 
The Chairman confirmed that dialling ‘101’ would divert to an operative, however, 
this would be queried with the Policing team.  

 
ACTION: For Councillors Richard Cleaver and Harish Bisnauthsing to be 
forwarded the email in relation to Fuel Poverty Data.  

 

4



3 
 

The action relating to ‘Homes for Ukraine Scheme’ was ongoing. The Assistant 
Director of Housing highlighted several works undertaken in the South of the District 
in terms of fundraising for local Ukrainians: 

 

• Fundraising for local Ukrainians via a music concert 

• Ukraine Peace Walk attended by hundreds 

• Alternate Friday meet ups at Christ Church (‘the Friday thing’) 

• Quarterly Food share at Christ Church (international Culture feast) 
 

Further updates would be provided to the Committee in due course.  
 

One Member requested a progress update on the Grounds Maintenance Contract 
that had previously been discussed at the Joint meeting of the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 
A concern was raised regarding the ‘Homes for Ukraine Scheme’ and that 
placements were for 6 months only. An update was requested in terms of 
Ukrainians living in the District that had come to the end of their placement.  

 
ACTION: For an update on Ukrainians living in the District that had come to 
the end of their 6 month placement. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property informed the Committee a Grounds 
Maintenance Option meeting was scheduled within the next week for 3 options to 
be considered and an update would be provided to the Committee.  

 
A further query was raised on the outcome of the decision made at the Joint 
meeting and where the minutes from Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be 
reported to in the future. 

 
The Monitoring Officer confirmed that the minutes of the Joint meeting had been 
approved earlier in the meeting. It was confirmed that a ‘next steps’ report regarding 
Grounds Maintenance would be brought to Committee in due course.  

 
20. Announcements or updates from the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members 

or the Head of Paid Service 
 

There were none.  
 

21. Housing Regulatory Compliance Update 
 

The Cabinet Member of Housing and Property introduced the report around 
landlord health and safety issues. It was confirmed that the Chief Executive, 
Director and Assistant Director of Housing, Cabinet Member and the Leader of the 
Council had continued to hold regular meetings.  

 

5



4 
 

A further ‘All Member’s Briefing’ for housing was due to be arranged to ensure all 
Member’s were updated with key areas: Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, 
Progress on Digital Housing Management System and collective communication 
with Member’s with housing enquiries service.  

 
The report outlined changes within the performance and measures on moving them 
to high compliance percentages. The Council continued to work with tenants, and 
occasionally tenants do not cooperate in relation to gas and electrical inspections in 
their homes.  

 
The Head of Housing Services was due to provide a working list for each Member 
of the Council to see if they can assist by communicating with tenants that are not 
allowing the Council’s representatives to enter their homes.   

 
The Assistant Director of Housing provided the Committee with the compliance 
figures as of the end of October: 

 

• Legionella performance was still at 100%. 

• Gas compliance had slightly improved to 99.66%, with 16 properties being 
non-compliant. 

• Electrical safety had increased to 86.68% compliance. 

• Asbestos, fire risk assessments and lifts all remained at 100% compliance.   
 

The Assistant Director of Housing confirmed that the team were in the process of 
scoping an external audit to be undertaken on the Council to verify the position to 
report to the Regulator of Social Housing. This should hopefully then result in a sign 
off from the regulatory notice.  

 
One Member raised a query in relation to properties where warrants had previously 
been issued and whether the warrants had now been executed.  

 
It was confirmed that the 17 warrants that were listed for court in August 2022 had 
not been called into court on that date, they were therefore carried forward. Access 
was gained through tenant engagement on the Council’s behalf. The Council 
continued to go through the court warrant system regarding gas compliance.  

 
The Assistant Director of Housing highlighted that there were 16 warrants 
outstanding at the end of August 2022. Therefore, 4613 gas safety checks had 
been completed in the last 12 months.  

 
It was queried as to whether there had been sight of the Health Safety Executive 
(HSE) reports following safety breaches at Riverside, Grantham.  

 
The Assistant Director of Housing noted that the Council had been in constant 
communication with the HSE and had not yet received the reports in question. The 
Council escalated this within the HSE, assurance had been provided by HSE that 
they would be in communication by the end of October 2022. 

 

6



5 
 

The Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council had jointly written to the HSE to 
express the Council’s concern as to why the reports had not been received. An 
acknowledgement from the HSE was received in October 2022, including that 
contact would be made by the end of October 2022.  

 
A query was raised on the expected timescale for the Council to be signed off from 
the Regulator of Social Housing.  

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that the Director of 
Housing and Property was working on the procurement for the final external audit.  
Once completed, the Regulator of Social Housing would receive and review the 
audit and should sign the Council off from Regulator of Social Housing.  

 
Members compared compliance special measures figures to current compliance 
figures and congratulated the team on their hard work.  

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property stated that Officers had already 
tried to knock on doors of non-compliant tenants regarding gas and electrical. It was 
highlighted that non-compliant tenants may trust their Ward Members. 

 
The Chairman suggested posting a ‘calling card’ with the Ward Members details for 
non-compliant tenants who were not present at their property.  

 
One Member suggested whether Ward Members could receive notifications of non-
compliant tenants in their Ward.  

 
It was confirmed that members of the Working Party had designated areas of the 
District and would focus on their non-compliant tenants.   

 
One Member requested a written update on the outcome of the Housing Working 
Group meeting that took place on 5 October 2022.  

 
The Cabinet Member of Housing and Property highlighted that the Working Group 
assisted with streamlining communication with tenants on a one-to-one basis.  

 
A mechanism was discussed where individual housing enquiry outcomes would be 
forwarded onto all relevant Officers and Members to avoid duplication of issues 
raised.  

 
The Workgroup Group had considered: 

 

• Member contact and challenging customers 

• Member enquiries and complaints  

• Compliance Update  

• Voids and turnaround times 

• Digital Housing Management System 

• ‘Big Listen’ Update 

• Earlesfield project 

7



6 
 

 
It was clarified that the Working Group would establish a visiting slot for other 
Members to attend and highlight any issues. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property invited Councillor Ashley Baxter to 
the next Working Group meeting.  

 
ACTION: For the Working Group update to be included within the Housing 
Regulatory Compliance Update agenda item at future Rural & Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   

 
Further clarification was sought around the timeframe that the Council would 
become out of special measures with the Social Housing Regulator.  

 
The Assistant Director of Housing confirmed that the Audit would be commenced in 
November 2022, with the report to be received by late November 2022. It was 
estimated that the report would be supplied to the Social Housing Regulator in 
December 2022. The timeframe would depend on the time it takes the Regulator to 
sign off the regulatory notice however, the Council’s goal was January 2023.  

 
That Committee: 

 
 1. That the Committee notes the latest compliance position following the 

ongoing meetings with the Regulator of Social Housing.  
 
2. That the Committee receives a further update report at its next scheduled 

meeting. 
 

22. Cost of Living Strategy 
 

The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities introduced the report that 
outlined the concerning cost of living crisis for residents and businesses across the 
District.  

 
The cost of living strategic working group was created in August 2022 and 
supported by Senior Managers in key areas: Community Engagement, 
Communications, Economic Development, Finance, Housing and Revenues and 
Benefits. The working group meets on a weekly basis.  

 
A cost of living information and advice Hub had been created as part of earlier 
working group meetings and is included on the home page of the Council’s website.  

 
Residents that did not have access to the internet were being considered as part of 
the working groups action plan, along with ways in which these residents could be 
reached. It was suggested that this may be through Parish and Town Councils 
networks.  

 

8



7 
 

A cross-partner approach to the cost of living had been undergoing, which included 
an internal strategic working group (Cabinet Member and Senior Management). In 
addition, an external strategic task force had been developed for collaborative 
working.  

 
Crisis Support Events were due to be held across the District.  

 
Members welcomed the report.  

 
It was queried what happened to residents who did not meet the criteria to receive 
benefits. It was further questioned, how residents with language barriers would be 
communicated with.  

 
The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service recognised that residents 
who did not meet criteria had been recognised throughout 2022/23 and additional 
support had been provided. District network meetings with Lincolnshire County 
Council were due to take place to discuss how ‘hard to reach’ residents could be 
contacted and whether there was funding available.  

 
It was suggested that Parish Councils assist with communication residents that are 
‘hard to reach’.  

 
It was confirmed that Department of Working Pensions and Citizens Advice assist 
with residents who do not speak English.  

 
One Member queried whether the funds had to be claimed or are automatically 
sent.  

 
The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service highlighted those where an 
application process is in place. Statutory benefits were means tested and an 
application form was required. The £150 Council Tax energy rebate required no 
application form, the guidance had been established and provided by Central 
Government. The Household Support Fund was assessed on an income and 
expenditure level; therefore, an application was required.  

 
It was queried as to whether there was a time limit on providing funds to eligible 
residents.  

 
It was confirmed that the Council Tax energy rebate (mandatory scheme) had 
ended on 30 September 2022 and 99.8% of people within the District had received 
their payment. The people that had not received their payment, was as a result of 
their voucher not being redeemed. The Discretionary Scheme was in payment until 
30 November 2022. Household Support Fund (new fund) had been announced with 
effect on 1 October 2022 – 31 March 2023. 

 
Clarification was sought on the difference between the Task Force and the 
Strategic Working Group.  

 

9



8 
 

The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service clarified that the Strategic 
Working Group was the internal group, chaired by Councillor Annie Mason with 
Officers from each service area. The external working group had been renamed to 
Task Force. 

 
The Cabinet Member of Housing and Property suggested that a table could be 
published in newspapers for individuals who do not have access to IT to 
communicate with them regarding the cost of living and the benefits available. 

 
It was further noted that a table regarding the cost of living and the benefits 
available could be published in December 2022 version of SK Today, this would be 
explored.  

 
It was questioned whether Citizens Advice Bureau and Samaritans were involved 
with the working group meetings.  

 
The working group meetings were working alongside Citizens Advice Bureau. It 
was confirmed that Samaritans would be contacted to be included within future 
meetings.  

 
One Member suggested a leaflet campaign to ensure tenants with no access to the 
internet were communicated with. 

 
An action put forward by the Strategic Working Group had been to include 
information within the Council Tax Annual Bill next year. If any resident receives a 
reminder letter for their Council Tax, a leaflet may be included on this matter.  

 
One Member highlighted a website called ‘Entitled To’ which could be accessed via 
the government’s website. The website can be utilised to establish what benefits an 
individual could be entitled to.  

 
The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service noted that a link to ‘Entitled 
To’ could also be found on the Council’s cost of living website.  

 
Another Member emphasised the need to dispatch leaflets on this matter. It was 
suggested to save costs, that leaflets are only sent to households within maps of 
multiple deprivation indices.  

 
Concern was raised on Citizens Advice Bureau in Stamford and the lack of 
provision and help from Stamford Town Council. It was queried whether any funds 
could be put towards supporting staff at Citizens Advice Bureau in Stamford. 

 
Clarification was sought around figures on appendix one.  

 
The Cabinet Member for People & Safer Communities noted that the 
communication needed to be improved by all organisations to the ‘hard to reach’ 
residents.  

 

10



9 
 

Citizens Advice Bureau receive funding from South Kesteven District Council, as 
well as Lincolnshire County Council.   

 
The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service clarified that the £262,900 
within appendix one was for the £110 per pensioner, 2390 pensioners were in 
receipt of pension credit. This requirement was from the Department for Work and 
Pensions who had provided the funding.  

 
The Council had supported an additional 622 households, who had received 
voucher values of either £100 for adult households or £200 for households with 
children.   

 
One Member queried how the households receiving £100 or £200 should be 
claimed.   

 
It was confirmed that applications were through referral from Citizens Advice 
Bureau or internal teams within the Council. The resident would be required to 
complete an income and expenditure form. 

 
One Member highlighted that it would be useful to receive a list of attendees to 
establish who is part of the Strategic Working Group and the Task Force.  

 
ACTION: For the Committee to receive a list of attendees to establish who is 
part of the Strategic Working Group and the Task Force. 

 
It was queried as to whether any representative of the Task Force had knowledge 
of education, health, locations across the District and equality and diversity.  

 
The Deputy Chief Executive confirmed that a representative from Citizens Advice 
Bureau was part of the Task Force.  

 
One Member suggested that a representative from ‘Christians against Poverty’ be 
included within the Task Force. 

 
It was queried as to who was in control of people attending the Task Force and who 
decides on how many politicians are present.  

 
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities highlighted that the 
internal Strategic Working Group and the Task Force were not based around 
politics. The Member currently part of the groups was Councillor Annie Mason, the 
attendance was due to be widened.  

 
One Member suggested television adverts or radio broadcasts could be used to 
reach out to tenants in the colder months.  

 
It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED that the Committee:  

 

11



10 
 

1. Notes the support that has been provided so far to residents and 
businesses, as detailed in Appendix 1; 

2. Supports the establishment of a Strategic Working Group and Taskforce;  
3. Notes the actions to be taken as detailed in Appendix 2. 

 
23. Communication with tenants across the Council 

 
The Cabinet Member of Housing and Property introduced the report that outlined 
communication with tenants across the Council.  

 
It was confirmed that ‘The Big Listen Survey’ had taken place, where a good 
response rate was received from 1723 tenants and the overall satisfaction was 
72%. The feedback from the survey was under review and issues raised were being 
addressed.   

 
The transactional satisfaction system, ‘Rant and Rave’ was also in operation. The 
current performance satisfaction was 4.5 out of 5, from 547 completed surveys.  

 
Further events and engagement were to be arranged. The Housing Working Group 
were hoping to incorporate tenant’s liaison to strengthen communication between 
tenants and landlord.  

 
Skyline is an effective publication for updating all tenants and providing satisfaction 
including compliance updates and landlord performance. It was suggested that the 
‘Entitled To’ website be included in the next publication to benefit housing tenants to 
access and utilise.  

 
The Housing Management System was due to go live in April 2023. The system 
would be more transparent and easier to manage. It was noted that another system 
for corporate assets would be explored to work in conjunction with the new Housing 
Management System in the future.  

 
Members congratulated the team for their engagement with tenants.  

 
It was queried as to why an engagement session at Greyfriars, Grantham had not 
taken place.  

 
The Assistant Director of Housing confirmed that the session was due to be 
scheduled.  

 
Concern was raised regarding repairs of external doors at Manners Street, 
Grantham. It was further confirmed that this issue would be addressed urgently. 

 
It was queried as to why the Skyline reports for summer 2022 were not available on 
the Council’s website. 

 
One Member suggested that the resident satisfaction survey be repeated. It was 
noted that 1/3 of tenants who had received repair or maintenance works from the 

12



11 
 

Council were unsatisfied with the service, therefore, the satisfaction targets were 
requested.  

 
The Assistant Director for Housing highlighted that the Skyline reports were 
requested at the time of publication to be uploaded to the website, however, would 
be investigated.  

 
It was confirmed that satisfaction surveys were scheduled to be repeated once 
every two years to monitor progress and to measure improvements.  

 
The Regulator for Social Housing had relaunched their 12 satisfaction measures 
(standard questions) which were included in a survey, which are to be completed 
every year.  

 
It was noted that the Skyline report results did not match the ‘Rant and Rave’ 
feedback from completed repairs. The Council had undertaken works with 
unsatisfied tenants, it was highlighted that the dissatisfaction had been around 
waiting times for repairs. It was confirmed that the goal for total customer 
satisfaction would be 75%-80%. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property thanked colleagues in the Repairs 
and Improvements Team.  

 
It was suggested that time measures for repairs be put into place to distinguish 
timeframes for competition of kitchens bathrooms or building works. The Housing 
Management System would provide this feature.  

 
Clarification was sought on the dissatisfaction figures.  

 
Hard copies of the Skyline reports were available at the meeting.  

 
That the Committee:  

 
1. Notes the contents of this report and the progress made by the Housing 

and Property directorate to improve and embed the importance of 
communication to our tenants in line with the Social Housing White Paper. 

 
24. Work Programme 2022-2023 

 
The Committee noted the Work Programme 2022-2023.  

 
The Committee agreed that the Progress report on Housing Allocation Policy and 
Choice based lettings would be moved to the Committee meeting taking place on 9 
February 2023. 

 
One Member requested items for future meetings be included on the Work 
Programme: 

 

13



12 
 

• Update on anti-social behaviour and community safety. 

• Update on Cost-of-Living task groups. 

• Effectiveness of affordable housing.  

• Update on Voids 

• Grounds Maintenance 

• ‘Change4Lincs’ Update 

• Homes for Ukraine Scheme update 
 

It was a suggested that a briefing session be held for the Committee relating to 
Primary Care Networks.   

 
The Assistant Director of Housing confirmed that the report on effectiveness on 
policies of affordable housing was a Planning matter. This would be discussed 
following the meeting.  

 
A query was raised on whether there would be any further update on the ‘Homes 
for Ukraine Scheme’.  

 
Clarification was sought regarding the Joint meeting of the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and when Grounds Maintenance would be discussed further.  

 
The Deputy Chief Executive highlighted that Grounds Maintenance should be 
added to the Work Programme to be scheduled in the future and should be 
discussed once a meeting had been confirmed.  

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed a meeting had been 
scheduled for ‘Change4Lincs’ on 13 October 2022.  

 
It was requested that an update on ‘Change4Lincs’ and Capital Programme – 
Heating be added to the Work Programme for the meeting on 8 December 2022.  

 
It was requested that the HRA Business Plan be added to the Work Programme for 
the meeting on 9 February 2022.  

 
The Assistant Director of Housing noted that an update on ‘Homes for Ukraine 
Scheme’ had been heard at the previous Committee meeting.  

 
It was confirmed the Council had 153 families in the District that were part of the 
‘Homes for Ukraine Scheme’.  

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property had previously attended a meeting 
for Bourne Town Council, where Ukrainian families, Town Councillors and a 
representative from Lincolnshire County Council were in attendance to discuss any 
problems the families had raised.  

 

14



13 
 

25. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, 
decides is urgent 

 
There were none. 

 
26. Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:15. 

 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



Action Sheet 

Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Actions from meeting of 5 October 2022 

 

Min 
no 

 
 

Agenda 
item 

 

Action 
 

Assigned to 
 
 
 

Status 
 
 
 

Outcome 

19 Updates 
from the 
previous 
meeting 

For the Chairman to 
circulate email 

addresses to the 
Committee of the new 
team/Senior Officers 

leading the Police locally.   

Chairman  
(Councillor Sarah 

Trotter) 

Complete Email sent by Democratic Services on behalf of the 
Chairman on 1 November 2022.  

19 Updates 
from the 
previous 
meeting  

For Councillors Richard 
Cleaver and Harish 
Bisnauthsing to be 

forwarded the email in 
relation to Fuel Poverty 

Data. 
 

Craig Spence 
 (Assistant Director 

of  
Housing and 

Property) 

Complete Email forwarded by Democratic Services on 5 October 
2022.  

19 Updates 
from the 
previous 
meeting 

 

For an update on 
Ukrainians living in the 

District that had come to 
the end of their 6 month 

placement.  

Jodie Archer  
(Head of Housing 

Services) 

Complete To support Ukrainian families placed under the Homes for 
Ukraine scheme, funding has been utilised across 
Lincolnshire to create 3 new homelessness prevention 
officer posts to focus on this particular cohort. As it was 
recognised that SKDC have the highest number of hosts in 
Lincolnshire, one of these posts is hosted by SKDC solely to 
cover this area.  
 
Since commencing in post on 26th September, our officer 
has been attending weekly meetings with colleagues in 
Lincolnshire County Council the help identify those families 
where the hosting arrangement is not able to continue or 

17

A
genda Item

 5



Action Sheet 

Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Actions from meeting of 5 October 2022 

 
has come to an end. So far, we have offered advice and 
assistance to a large number of these families to explain the 
next steps and explore the options available.  
 
Through collaborative working with LCC when a hosting 
arrangement ends, an alternative host is sought.  
 
For other families where the hosting arrangements are 
coming to an end and another match is not possible, 
attempts are made to rehouse into either private rented 
accommodation or social housing via our housing register. 
So far we have housed one family into social housing. To 
access social housing is a huge challenge due to lack of 
available stock and the number of people already on the 
housing register. In addition, the private rental market is 
hugely expensive and challenging to access for this cohort 
who have only been resident in the UK for a short period of 
time.  
 
We are in a strong position in that we have not needed to 
utilise any temporary accommodation so far. This is due to 
strong partnership work and having early notification from 
county colleagues regarding the hosting arrangements 
which are all RAG rated in terms of the risk of them coming 
to an end. This means that we can continue to identify those 
at risk of becoming homeless at the earliest opportunity and 
prevent them reaching crisis point. 

 
 

18



Action Sheet 

Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Actions from meeting of 5 October 2022 

 

 

21 Housing 
Regulatory 
Complianc
e Update 

For the Working Group 
update to be included 

within the Housing 
Regulatory Compliance 
Update agenda item at 

future Committee 
meetings.  

Craig Spence 
 (Assistant Director 

of  
Housing and 

Property) 

Ongoing To be included in future reports. 

22 Cost of 
Living 

Strategy 
 

For the Committee to 
receive a list of 

attendees to establish 
who is part of the 

Strategic Working Group 
and the Task Force.  

 

Alan Robinson  
(Deputy Chief 

Executive) 

Complete Attendee list sent via email on 5 October 2022. 

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
 

8 December 2022   
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 

 

 

Housing Regulatory Compliance Update  
 

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Acting Director of Housing  

 
 craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 

  

 

 

This report seeks to update Committee on actions to ensure regulatory compliance of the 
Council’s social housing landlord function following the non-compliance notice issued by 
the Regulator of Social Housing.  
 

Recommendations 

 

That Committee: 

1. That the Committee notes the latest compliance position following the 
ongoing meetings with the Regulator of Social Housing.   

2. That the Committee receives a further update report at its next scheduled 
meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21

Agenda Item 7

mailto:craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

Decision Information 

  

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents  

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The financial considerations arising from the compliance requirements have 

been substantially incorporated in the HRA budgets for 2022/23 and further 

budgetary proposals are being considered for inclusion into the 2023/24 budget.  

However, the HRA financial outlook remains challenging against a backdrop of 

rising demands, material price increases and managing customer expectations.     

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 The updates to Committee allow members to track progress against key risk 

areas, which is to be welcomed from a governance perspective. The legal 

implications for non-compliance are incorporated within the risk ratings. 

 

Completed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

 

Risk and Mitigation 

 

1.3 The necessary risk issues, logs, and mitigations will be identified through the 

necessary work plans, and any work outputs agreed with the Regulator. Clearly 

dealing with significant compliance matters requires a comprehensive approach 

to risk management, particularly in respect of assessing priorities and critical 

22



actions. The necessary and agreed risk assessment process with be discussed 

and agreed with the Regulator at the appropriate time to ensure outcomes are as 

far as possible managed and objectives achieved.  

 

Health and Safety 

 

1.4 The key focus in meeting the regulatory standard is to ensure tenants, 

leaseholders, their households and visitors live in homes that are, as far as is 

reasonably practicable, safe with hazards minimised. This is reflected in the key 

compliance areas that are monitored and reported to Committee. 

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.5 All the necessary safeguarding and equality issues will be identified and 

complied with as the necessary compliance and improvement activities take 

place. Each equality and safeguarding impact are carefully considered when 

actioning a compliance or regulatory change. This is especially so when 

managing such matters for vulnerable households and particularly those 

occupying specialist accommodation such as designated sheltered 

accommodation.  

 

Climate Change 

 

1.6 Any capital improvement plans especially in the context of dealing with essential 

gas, electrical and other works will aim to maximise energy efficiency measures, 

and reductions in carbon emissions.  

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The Committee will be aware the Chief Executive determined, in consultation 

with the Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning, to self-refer the 

Council to the Regulator of Social Housing. Since this referral Officers have been 

providing further data and details relating to the core issues of non-compliance 

for the Regulator to consider and review.   

2.2 Monthly meetings have been taking place with the Regulator to cover issues of 

focus in terms of the regulatory framework, focussing on the Homes Standard.  

Our current performance and plans are shared at this meeting. The discussions 

and requests for information have been provided as required, and this has 

allowed the Regulator to continue to work with Officers in a constructive and 

helpful way.   

2.3 The Committee has now received nine update reports since March 2021 that 

have confirmed the Regulatory Notice served on the Council and provided an 

outline of the work that officers would continue to ensure we logically and 

methodically progress through a programme of improvement. 

23



2.4 The Committee determined that it would wish to receive update reports on 

progress at each of its meetings to ensure that Members had oversite of broad 

progress around the key areas of activity and could engage with Officers and 

scrutinise work where required. It identified the following core headings as a 

means of updating Members and would identify the following information to 

assist this process.  In addition, at the meeting on 01 July 2021, Committee 

requested sight of the Improvement Plan; the latest version is appended to this 

report. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 Updating Tenants and Members: Following on from previous briefings, further 

All Member Briefings will be arranged to ensure Members are fully informed on 

progress and continued challenges.  

3.2 As reported to the Committee’s meeting in June 2022, a full tenant consultation 

exercise has been undertaken – “The Big Listen”.  This involved several 

questions on both the current experience of tenants in terms of the services the 

Council offers as a landlord, and what they would like to see prioritised in the 

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, which will require a complete review 

in 2022/23.  The questions were based on the Regulator of Social Housing’s 

proposed Tenant Satisfaction Measures and the initial report was provided to 

Committee in the meeting on 23 June 2022. 

3.3 Section 4 of the AMS gives further detail of the key challenges in the context of 

the Council’s asset base and operating environment, and places emphasis on 

the ongoing responsibility of the Council to ensure compliance with applicable 

health and safety responsibilities.  It commits to an ongoing programme of 

regular costed building condition surveys to inform a proactive, planned 

maintenance programme and reduce the need for more expensive reactive 

repairs.   

3.4 A key activity to support the HRA Business Plan review is up-to-date information 

on the Council’s housing stock. As noted in previous reports, the last full Stock 

Condition Survey was completed in 2009; good practice suggests 

comprehensive Stock Condition survey should be completed every 5 years, 

usually by undertaking a survey of 20% of the stock each year.  The Survey has 

now concluded, and analysis of the findings continues.  

3.5 The Council continues to utilise its Rant and Rave feedback, seeking real time 

feedback from tenants following responsive repairs.  We continue to see overall 

satisfaction of 4.5 out of 5, demonstrating sustained high satisfaction at the point 

where repairs are undertaken. 

3.6 An all Councillor briefing on Housing was delivered in November, providing an 

update on the work ongoing across the teams to provide an understanding of the 

current priorities, projects and pressures that the team are currently dealing with. 

24



3.6 Regular Meetings with the Regulator: Monthly meetings between the Chief 

Executive, Director of Housing and Property Services, Assistant Director of 

Housing, and the Regulator’s Officers take place as scheduled; the next meeting 

at time of writing is due in December 2022. Progress has been significant right 

across the landlord health and safety compliance function (latest monthly figures 

attached as Appendix One to this report) and the relationship with the Regulator 

is positive, with the Regulator acknowledging that the Council is moving to a 

position to seek removal of the Notice that was formally served in February 2021.  

3.7 That removal is contingent on three issues: 

(a) Sustained maintenance of performance in relation to the key landlord 

health and safety areas (i.e. those shown on Appendix One) 

(b) Clear programmes of work related to the actions that arise from those 

areas (these are provided to the Regulator on a monthly basis) 

(c) A satisfactory external audit of the above, providing external assurance.  

Scoping work in relation to this external audit is underway, with actions 

to address potential gaps identified and clear responsibilities and 

timescales for those actions delegated.  

3.8 To enable the Regulator to remove the notice we are required to undertake an 

external audit of our compliance related functions. The outcomes of this audit 

shall then provide assurance to the Regulator on our current performance and 

governance structures. We are currently seeking quotations from audit 

companies to undertake this work utilising an audit scope that has been agreed 

with the Regulator. This scope can be found as (Appendix Three – Regulatory 

Compliance Audit Scope). 

3.9 Committee may find additional comment on Appendix One helpful: 

3.9.1 Legionella – 100% compliant, evidencing consistent and proactive management 

of this compliance element.  

3.9.2 Gas – 99.14% achieved in October, again slightly down from the excellent result 

of 100% of properties with an up-to-date gas certificate in April.   Of the forty 

properties without, all have appropriate actions up to date, including obtaining 

warrants to be served to gain access.  A verbal update will be provided to 

Members with the outcome of those Court Hearings.  

3.9.3 Electrical testing – this shows the position in relation to properties (both dwellings 

and communal areas) with an up-to-date electrical certificate, with the current 

position being 88.15% with a current satisfactory certificate.  Committee will note 

that compliance has increased to the highest point yet for electrical testing. 

3.9.4 Asbestos – this shows 100% compliance in terms of asbestos inspections.  

3.9.5 Fire Risk Assessments – this shows all communal blocks assessed as “higher 

risk” have been inspected, and corrective actions are being programmed and 

completed.  It is consistent with the Council’s Fire Safety Management Plan.  

3.9.6 Lift inspections – all properties are currently compliant.  

25



3.9.7 Smoke and CO – this shows the position for all the alarms within all our 

properties being 99.34% compliant. This is a recently introduced Regulatory 

requirement which came in to force on the 1st of October 2022, again those 

properties that are non-compliant totalling thirty-nine are all being dealt with 

through due process.   

3.10 Leadership Compliance Meetings: Chaired by Cabinet Member for Housing 

and Planning and attended by the Leader of the Council, the Chief Executive, the 

Director of Housing and Property, and the Assistant Director of Housing, these 

meetings have been a continued feature of the more detailed compliance review 

process being undertaken.  Members of this group ensure specific responses to 

the changing compliance review process and manage tenant and communication 

responses to actions associated with key service and regulatory responses such 

as agreeing the scope and nature of key issues to be covered by the next 

SKyline magazine publication, due in December 2022.  

3.11 Regular Reports to Committees and Cabinet:  the necessary reporting to 

appropriate committees will continue.  Members are invited to comment on this 

report content and confirm their views and observations relating to the detail 

contained within this report.  

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 These will be further determined through work with the Regulator, the adjusted 

Improvement Plan, and consideration of key outputs by Members, Leadership 

Compliance meetings, and All Member briefing sessions as arranged.  

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 To secure as determined by the Regulator a return to full compliance in respect 

of housing services, including the identification of appropriate resources, funds, 

and service improvements in a timely manner.  

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 The necessary consultation with the tenants and Members of the Council has 

been undertaken through timely reporting, dispatch of letters to advise tenants of 

progress, the latest Skyline publication, dedicated customer telephone enquiry 

line, and an updated web site detailing compliance issues and signposting 

services. This process will continue as required and the engagement with 

tenants particularly will be amended to reflect changing needs and requirements.  

 

 

 

 

26



7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix 1 – Summary Paper relating to core compliance areas as at October 

2022. 

Appendix 2 – Improvement Plan October 2022. 

Appendix 3 – Regulatory Compliance Audit Scope 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



South Kesteven District Council - Landlord H&S KPIs 

Compliant
Non 

Compliant
% 

Compliant
Baseline 
number

Compliant
Non 

Compliant
% 

Compliant
Baseline 
number

Compliant
Non 

Compliant
% 

Compliant
Baseline 
number

Compliant
Non 

Compliant
% 

Compliant
Baseline 
number

Compliant
Non 

Compliant
% 

Compliant
Comments 

Legionella 33 0 100.00% 33 33 0 100.00% 33 33 0 100.00% 33 33 0 100.00% 33 33 0 100.00%
November Legionella assessments completed.

Gas 4633 11 99.76% 4644 4627 17 99.63% 4644 4628 16 99.66% 4639 4599 40 99.14% 4635 4595 40 99.14%
Next court date 21st November with 20 cases to be 

heard, 27 of the 40 are new cases since last 
month.

Electrical 5300 787 87.07% 6083 5249 834 86.29% 6079 5269 810 86.68% 6074 5269 805 86.75% 6074 5354 720 88.15%
Significant reduction in non compliant installations 

due to enhanced contractor management and 
regular meetings. 

Asbestos (re-inspections) 204 0 100.00% 213 213 0 100.00% 213 213 0 100.00% 213 213 0 100.00% 213 213 0 100.00%
Next re inspections due March 2023.

Fire Risk Assessments 148 0 100.00% 148 148 0 100.00% 148 148 0 100.00% 148 148 0 100.00% 148 148 0 100.00%
Due to commence early 2023 - Procurement 

exercise underway.

Lift inspections 13 0 100% 13 12 1 92% 13 13 0 100.00% 13 12 1 92.00% 13 13 0 100.00%

Smoke & CO 5898 5835 63 98.93% 5889 5850 39 99.34%

Breakdown of the 39 below:
 •27 works identified,  appointments being made
 •2 legal action being taken
 •3 failed appointments
 •7 no contact.

V21 - 
03/11/22

Complian
ce Activity Red Amber Green

Legionella <95%
95.01-
99.99% 100.00%

Gas <99.8%
99.81-
99.99% 100.00%

Electrical <98%
98.01-
99.99% 100.00%

Asbestos <85%
85.01-
99.99% 100.00%

FRA 
Actions <97%

97.01%-
99.99% 100.00%

31/10/202231/08/202231/07/202230/06/2022 30/09/2022

29

A
ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Housing Improvement Action Plan v10 Oct 2022

Action 
number 

Issue Detail How 
identified 

Action to address Target Budget Lead 
Officer 

RAG Direction 
of travel 

Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22

HIAP1 Current IHMS inadequate Northgate implementation paused 
Summer 2021 to review, plan, costs, 
scope, and await senior management 
recruitment and re assess resource 
needs to manage a future 
implementation.   Report to CMT 
24.11.21 to agree project 
implementation and procurement 
method 

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Procurement and project 
implementation

Framework 
procurement 
December 2021, 
evaluation January 
2021, with system go-
live April 2023.  

Budget approved 
in HRA for 21/22 
and future years 
projections.

ADH + Project ongoing, existing 
database copied to enable data 
extract template creation and 
validation.
Project team focusing on 
process and procedures to 
ensure a fit with new system.
Robust project plan drawn up.

No change, remains on 
target. 

Continued strong progress with 
this significance IT project.  
Monthly internal project team 
meetings allow progress to be 
monitored, both budget and 
timeline are "green" status with 
the implementation date of April 
2023 remaining a challenging but 
achievable goal.

Currently on track major 
milestone in the last month was 
the import of our initial data to 
the configuration system which 
went well.
All aspects of the project reman 
green.

On track and full update 
provided within papers.

HIAP2 Allocations based on 
offers, not CBL

Consultation on CBL carried out during 
the first 3 weeks of September – 
surveys sent out & workshops 
undertaken.  Discussion paper to 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting early 2022. 
Members briefing discussion in January.  

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Complete Choice Based Lettings 
and Allocation review process and 
achieve introduction of revised 
policy and CBL solution including 
training.   

April 2022 Policy; 
Launch October 2022

Costs TBC ADH = Allocation policy at Cabinet 12 
July to consider approval (link - 
http://moderngovsvr/ieListDoc
uments.aspx?CId=164&MId=42
70&Ver=4).

Approved.  
Implementation plan now 
under development.

Approved.  Implementation plan 
now under development.

No change. CBL system procurement is 
underway.

HIAP3 Lack of performance 
management framework 
allowing real-time, 
automated information

Complete review of core housing KPI 
and customer standards for Housing 
service. This to include key issues such 
as void times, jobs out of time, 
compliance etc.  

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Service blueprints provide key Pis, 
agreed by management team.  
Strong link to IHMS project  

April 2023 full roll-out Existing 
resources 

DHP = Complete.

HIAP4 Grounds maintenance 
contract review.

Uncertainty around VFM and contract 
management anecdotally poor 

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Clear roles for contract 
management as part of Estate 
Management function

Budget agreed 
and included in 
21/22 budget 
significant uplift 
approved for 
better spec.

HofHS = Ongoing Ongoing - procurement 
underway. 

Ongoing as part of the broader 
corporate project. 

Ongoing. Ongoing.

HIAP5 Lack of strategy and policy 
framework 

Complete review of key documents and 
identify work plan and timelines. 
Revised Tenant engagement Strategy 
planned.

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Complete review of key 
documents and identify work plan 
and timelines based on risk.  Aids 
and Adaptations Policy, Right to 
Buy Policy, Compensation Policy 
and Rechargeable Repairs Policy in 
first tranche.

Complete first tranche 
July 2022

Existing 
resources 

ADH + No change delivery of plan 
ongoing.

No change delivery of 
plan ongoing.

No change delivery of plan 
ongoing.

No change delivery of plan 
ongoing.

No change delivery of plan 
ongoing.

HIAP6 Review Asset Management 
Plan and HRA Business 
Plan.  

This is a document that can only be 
drafted once the outcome of the stock 
condition survey is determined.

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Stock Condition Survey underway. 
Asset Management Strategy to be 
developed as survey data is 
analysed. The Target date for 
completion of this work is end of 
March 2022.

Jul-22 Existing 
resources 

DHP 
(supporte
d AD 
Finance)

= Focused meetings taking place 
to scope plans and formulate 
drafts.

Initial assumptions 
shared, further work on 
compiling stock 
information in progress.

Implications of the rent setting 
standard being considered, with 
a cap on the rent increase in 
April 2023 considered likely.  
Continued work on analysing the 
stock condition, especially in the 
context of retrofit, continues.

Consultant and Housemark 
engaged for HRA Business Plan 
development and initial meetings 
taken place. HRA BP due for 
adoption first quarter 2023.

No change - ongoing.

HIAP7 The Council does not have 
an Empty Homes Strategy 

Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Draft complete Apr-22 Existing 
resources 

DHP  + Complete. Complete. Complete. Complete

Progress update 

31

A
ppendix 2



Action 
number 

Issue Detail How 
identified 

Action to address Target Budget Lead 
Officer 

RAG Direction 
of travel 

Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22

HIAP8 Engagement with Tenants 
to inform and seek views 
on service standards

Lack of real time feedback Self 
assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Rant and Rave procured. Apr-22 Budget approved  HoTS + Rant and Rave latest as of 
1/7/22;
Satisfaction score = 4.6/5
Sentiment score = 4/5
Both aspects improving, results 
shared with teams at recent all 
service briefings.
Continues to reinforce that 
customers are satisfied once 
they receive their property or 
repair, main negativity 
surrounds wait times and 
communication which both 
form a big part of the 
improvements planned with 
our system changes.

Rant and Rave continues 
to show satisfaction of 
4.2/5, engagement within 
our sheltered schemes 
continue.

Rant and Rave continues to show 
satisfaction of 4.5/5.  Workshops 
and events are being held in the 
Council's Sheltered Schemes.  

Winter edition of SKyline in 
development.
Rant and Rave transactional 
feedback score  continues at 
4.5/5.

Winter edition of SKyline in 
development and articals in 
draft format.
Rant and Rave transactional 
feedback score  continues at 
4.5/5 as detailed withn 
additional report.

32



Homes Standard v10 Oct 2022

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/914576/Home_Standard_2015.pdf

Regulatory 
Reference 

Summary Action 
number 

Issue Detail How identified Action to address Target Budget Lead 
Officer 

RAG Direction 
of travel 

Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22

HS2 Lack of stock condition information Last full Stock Condition Survey 
completed 2009. Sample Stock 
Condition surveys by internal 
surveyors been undertaken 
annually, but not consistent 
around detail and numbers.

Self Assessment 
Nov 20

Commission full 
stock condition 
survey in 2021/22.

Mar-22 £780k Budget 
approved by 
Full Council in 
December 
2020.

HofTS + Complete and annual 
surveys to continue.

HS3 Revised capital improvements 
programme for 21/22 and future 
financial years. This to include 
potential new priorities such as 
fencing programme, 
windows/door entry systems, 
FRA’s and electrical certificates.

Heavily dependent on Action 2 Self Assessment 
Nov 20

Revised capital 
programmes based 
on previous years 
and emerging 
issues.  

Jul-22 Budget setting 
2022/23

ADH = No change. No change. This action forms part of 
the work on the HRA 
Business Plan (HIAP6).

No change. No change.

HIAP6 Review Asset Management Plan 
and HRA Business Plan.  

This is a document that can only 
be drafted once the outcome of 
the stock condition survey is 
determined.

Self assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Stock Condition 
Survey underway. 
Asset Management 
Strategy to be 
developed as 
survey data is 
analysed. The 
Target date for 
completion of this 
work is end of 
March 2022

Jul-22 Existing 
resources 

DHP 
(supported 
AD Finance)

= Commencing compilation 
of information to inform 
future drafts.

Initial 
assumptions 
shared, 
further work 
on compiling 
stock 
information in 
progress.

Initial assumptions 
shared, further work on 
compiling stock 
information in progress

Work ongoing with data 
fom stock condition.

No change.

1.1c in agreeing a local offer, ensure that it is 
set at a level not less than these 
standards

HS4 No local offer Not a requirement; low priority 
pending relaunch of tenant 
engagement function and result of 
"Big Listen" survey

Self Assessment 
Dec 21 = No change. No change. No change. No change. No change.

1.2a provide a cost-effective repairs and 
maintenance service to homes and 
communal areas that responds to the 
needs of, and offers choices to, tenants, 
and has the objective of completing 
repairs and improvements right first time

HS5 Anecdotal evidence of poor 
service, lack of pre and post 
inspection, lack of benchmarking, 
limited stock condition 
information.  

Service blueprint and restructure 
to clarify roles and resources, 
strong link to IHMS procurement 
and process reviews; confusing 
number of contractual terms for 
trades team  

Self assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Restructure; 
identify and 
improve processes 
on a risk basis; 
IHMS procurement; 
training and 
performance 
management. 

Jul-22 DHP + Trades collective 
bargaining complete with 
agreement to proceed with 
single consistent job 
description across all 
operatives.
Restructure awaiting final 
sign off.

No change. No change. No change. Restructure 
underway with 
consultant 
commenced 
1.11.22, 30 day 
consultation on 
proposals, 
currently 27 
vacancies.

Progress update 

33



Regulatory 
Reference 

Summary Action 
number 

Issue Detail How identified Action to address Target Budget Lead 
Officer 

RAG Direction 
of travel 

Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22

1.2b meet all applicable statutory 
requirements that provide for the health 
and safety of the occupants in their 
homes.

HS6 No effective IT solution for 
monitoring and managing 
compliance requirements 

Fire, gas and electrical priority Self Assessment 
Nov 20

Propeller System 
procured and 
launched 2021.  

Apr-22 Budget 
approved. 
Costs £76k 
20/21 
financial year 
then £39k per 
year.

HofTS = Work ongoing, revisiting 
master/slave data sources 
to ensure one version of 
the truth.

Work ongoing. Continued background 
work, linked to the build 
of the new IHMS system.  
This action will form part 
of the improvements to 
the Council's Asset 
Management System 
(APEX) planned for 
2023/24, that will ensure 
consistency of system 
hierarchy across both 
Housing Management 
and Asset Management 
Systems.

Work ongoing with 
master and slave data 
reltionships agreed 
between our IHMS and 
AMS systems.

Work ongoing.

HS7 Sheltered housing compliance and 
operational review required.

Separate Action Plan Self assessment 
June 21

Apr-22 + Separate Action Plan. Separate 
Action Plan.

Continued 
improvements, with 
training delivered to all 
front line staff on person 
centred risk assessments 
and personal evacuation 
plans for tenants.  

Sheltered housing 
review in HRA BP from 
April 23. Ongoing 
operational 
management 
improvements being 
embedded, including 
quality checks by team 
leader of PEEPs / PCRAs.

Review ongoing 
with further 
training for staff 
members and the 
over all schemes.

HS8 Wide issues of non-compliance 
identified by Internal Audit report 

Delivery of key Audit 
recommendations 

Audit report 
November 2020 
and October 
2021

Close monitoring of 
KPIs; reporting to 
Scrutiny 
Committees 

Apr-22 Existing 
resources 

DHP = No change. No change No change Initial draft of repairs 
policy to be shared 
internally Q3 2022/23.

Draft repairs 
policy to be taken 
to Cabinet in April 
2023.

2.1.1 shall ensure their tenants are aware of 
the reasons for any period of non-
compliance, their plan to achieve 
compliance and then report on progress 
delivering this plan.

HS9 Provide information and 
reassurance for tenants regarding 
regulatory notice and 
improvements 

Information and updates provided 
on service of notice 

Self Assessment 
Nov 20

Ongoing Ongoing Existing 
resources 

DHP = Summer edition sent to all 
tenants

No change No change Winter edition of SKyline 
in planning stages with 
regulatory compliance 
performance data to be 
included along with 
further reinforcement 
on the need to allow 
access to undertake 
regular checks and 
maintenance.

Winter edition of 
SKyline is 
underway with 
our housing and 
communications 
team.

2.2.1 ensure a prudent, planned approach to 
repairs and maintenance of homes and 
communal areas. This should 
demonstrate an appropriate balance of 
planned and responsive repairs, and 
value for money. The approach should 
include: responsive and cyclical repairs, 
planned and capital work, work on empty 
properties, and adaptations.

HS10 Anecdotal evidence of poor 
service, lack of pre and post 
inspection, lack of benchmarking, 
limited stock condition 
information.  

Service blueprint and restructure 
to clarify roles and resources, 
strong link to IHMS procurement 
and process reviews 

Self assessment 
Nov 20 and 
ongoing 

Restructure; 
identify and 
improve processes 
on a risk basis; 
IHMS procurement; 
training and 
performance 
management 

Jul-22 Existing 
resources 

DHP + Collective bargaining result 
positive with a majority 
vote passed to adopt single 
trades contract.
Implementation timeline of 
contract terms 30 days 
from formal sign off.
Restructure of teams to 
provide an enhanced 
overview of trades output 
along with an area based 
team structure to promote 
healthy competition.

Awaiting 
contract sign 
off by Trade 
Union. 

Contract now signed off 
by all parties and new 
terms and conditions 
introduced.  

Awaiting final sign off 
and launch of 
restructure.

Restructure 
signed off and 
consultant 
commended 
1.11.22 with staff 
members.

34



Regulatory 
Reference 

Summary Action 
number 

Issue Detail How identified Action to address Target Budget Lead 
Officer 

RAG Direction 
of travel 

Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22

2.2.2 co-operate with relevant organisations to 
provide an adaptations service that 
meets tenants’ needs.

HS11 Engagement with OT service 
haphazard, general approach is to 
complete adaptations regardless 
of practicality 

No clear policy on Aids and 
Adaptations 

Self assessment 
December 2021

Adopt Aids and 
Adaptation Policy 

Apr-22 Existing 
resources

HofHS + No change, paper written 
awaiting Cabinet date in 
October.

No change. Pending a formal report, 
Officers have engaged 
with LCC Occupational 
Therapist services 
(adults and children) and 
adopted sector good 
practice predicated on 
the Council making best 
use of its housing stock.

New complex case panel 
set up to manage new 
aids and adaptations 
cases.

Embedding new 
approach.

2.2.3 Asbestos Action Plan. HS12 Coordinated action plan to 
mitigate  current asbestos risks, 
ensure constant data management 
moving forward.

Action plan Self assessment 
May 22

Action identified on 
plan

Dec-22 Existing 
resources

HofTS + New team members have 
pulled together a cross 
directorate Asbestos 
Working Group to ensure 
an enhanced consistency 
of approach.

Asbestos 
Action Plan 
implemented. 

Asbestos Action Plan 
adopted and rolled out, 
demonstrated by 
sustained 100% 
performance.   Now 
"business as usual" and 
can be closed.

Complete.

35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



24th October 2022 V2 Final 
 

1 
 

OFFICIAL  

External Audit Scope Housing Compliance 

October 2022 

South Kesteven District Council self-referred to the Regulator of Social Housing 

regarding a breach of the Home Standard in 2021. 

Since that point in time we have been working towards a compliant position and 

require an external audit to be undertaken on our compliance related activities to 

present to the Regulator to enable the removal of the Regulatory Notice. 

 

Objectives and Scope of the review: 

To provide assurance on the data integrity, procedures and controls established to 
ensure that all of the landlord mandatory and good practice health and safety 
compliance functions are operating as intended and that this is sufficient to meet 
the Regulator of Social Housing’s regulatory standards and there is a clear 
direction of travel to excellence. 
 
The audit will examine and evaluate the procedures and controls established by 
management, to include: - 
 
Governance structures – Suitable governance structures are in place to 
scrutinise statutory compliance, ensuring management reporting is received and 
reviewed on a regular basis, and to a sufficient depth to understand the state of 
compliance. Where any performance metrics/KPIs/reported data are insufficient, 
these are interrogated, and action plans put in place where necessary. 
 
Policies and procedures – An up to date, and accurate set of policies and 
procedures are in place to ensure that the rolling programme of health and safety 
compliance checks is completed as planned. 
 
Completion and recording of health and safety compliance checks – To 
provide assurance on the data integrity of the rolling programme of inspections for 
all six health and safety compliance areas is fully embedded and that these 
inspections are completed in accordance with the improvement plan, and 
documented policies and procedures. The scope is to also include compliance with 
the  Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (Amendment) Regulations 2022. The 
outcomes are fully recorded on the centralised database and are the basis of the 
KPIs and management reporting with documentation being available to evidence 
completion and any remedial actions identified.  
 
Remedial actions – To provide assurance on the data integrity of any remedial 
actions identified by the rolling programme of inspections ensuring they are risk 
assessed in accordance with documented policies and procedures. We will 
undertake detailed sample testing to confirm these are recorded on the centralised 
database, followed up on, completed to the required standard to ensure these do 
not become recurring issues, and in accordance with documented and regulatory 
timeframes. 
 

37

Appendix 3



24th October 2022 V2 Final 
 

2 
 

OFFICIAL  

Contractor management – Contractors are in place to undertake completion of 
the health and safety compliance checks and remedial actions. Contract 
monitoring is completed and reported to senior management, including key KPIs. 
Where statutory timescales are not met, the contractor is required to act 
immediately, and any necessary action is taken through the contract. 
 
Management reporting – Performance metrics/KPIs have been established that 
are regularly and accurately reported and followed up to document the 
performance of the housing health and safety compliance checks programme. 
Where identified performance deficits are escalated in line with the policies and 
procedures. Testing will seek to confirm the accuracy of the KPI’s being reported. 
 

Timescale 

The proposed start date for the audit is the 1st of December 2022. 
 

Resources 

Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
Julie Martin, Head of Technical Services 
julie.martin@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
Phil Swinton, Health & Safety & Compliance Manager 
phil.swinton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services 
Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Scope agreed 
with:  
 

   

Auditor: TBC Date 
appointed:  
 

  

 

38

mailto:craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:julie.martin@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:phil.swinton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk


 
 

       

Rural and 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

8 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Annie Mason 
Cabinet Member for People and Safer 
Communities 
 

 

Armed Forces Covenant Update 
 

Report Author 

Debbie Nicholls. Armed Forces Officer 

  d.nicholls@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report provides an update on the new Armed Forces Act and the Armed Forces 

Covenant, implications of those for South Kesteven District Council and aspirations under 

the Council’s Defence Employer Recognition Scheme Gold Award. 

Recommendations 

It is recommended Members of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee: 

1. Recommends to the Chief Executive consideration is given to prioritise the 
approved staff training budgets to include mandating the Armed Forces e-
learning module 

2. Endorses the suggested approach for the Council’s Economic Development 
Service to assist in promoting the Greater Lincolnshire Defence and Security 
Network to appropriate defence-related South Kesteven businesses  

3. Supports suggesting to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that recognition of South Kesteven’s rich aviation history 
is included in the Council’s emerging Visitor Economy Strategy 

 

 

39

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

• Growth and our economy 

• Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

• Healthy and strong communities 

• High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1. Implications 
 
Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 
governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 
staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 
declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been identified: 
 

Finance and Procurement  
 
1.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 

Completed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 
 

Legal and Governance 
 
1.2 There are no legal or governance implications to highlight that are not already 

referred to in the body of the report. 

Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 
 

Diversity and Inclusion 
 
1.3 This report provides an overview of work carried out and planned in relation to the 

Council’s responsibilities under the Armed Forces Covenant, the Armed Forces Act 
and status as a Defence Employer Recognition Scheme Gold Award and therefore 
does not require an equality impact assessment.   
 

1.4 Being a serving or former member of the armed forces does not offer, by means of 
protected characteristic, specified protection under the Equality Act 2010. Military 
personnel and their families are however covered under the nine characteristics 
written in law. These protections against unfair treatment and discrimination are 
complementary to the protections afforded to serving and veteran Armed Forces 
personal and their families under the Armed Forces Act. 
 

 

40



Completed by: Carol Drury, Community Engagement Manager 
 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The Armed Forces Covenant is a promise by the Nation ensuring those who serve 
or have served in the Armed Forces, and their families are treated fairly and not 
disadvantaged through their service. Since 2012, South Kesteven District Council 
has signed the Armed Forces Covenant and appointed an elected councillor Armed 
Forces Champion and Armed Forces Officer to ensure the armed forces community 
does not face disadvantage compared to any other citizen when accessing public 
services. The Council aims to encourage a defence-friendly environment across the 
District. 

 
2.2 This report aims to ensure elected Members are aware and supportive of the work 

and impact of the Council’s commitment to the Armed Forces Community Covenant. 
This includes providing a greater understanding of the Council’s responsibilities 
under the Armed Forces Act and the initiatives designed to raise awareness of the 
Armed Forces community and the Armed Forces Covenant. Key policy 
developments flowing from the Armed Forces Covenant are set out in the report 
which will be accompanied by a PowerPoint presentation during the Committee 
meeting.  Attached at Appendix A is an action plan outlining future work to meet 
the requirements of the Act and Covenant. 

 
Training 
 

2.3 Regular Armed Forces Awareness training is delivered with particular emphasis on 
the requirement to show ‘due regard’ under the Armed Forces Act 2021 in the 
provision of Education, Healthcare and Housing. “Due regard” means that 
organisations in scope of the Duty will need to consciously consider the unique 
obligations and sacrifices made by the Armed Forces; that it is desirable to remove 
disadvantages faced by the Armed Forces community; and that special provision 
may be justified in some circumstances.  

 
2.4 South Kesteven District Council has an e-learning training module designed to raise 

awareness of the Armed Forces Covenant generally, as provided by Warwickshire 
County Council who launched their e-learning training module in June 2022. This is 
part of the core training offer for staff, and it would benefit the Council if this was 
made mandatory, including at new staff induction. As it is the role of the Chief 
Executive to prioritise the approved staff training budgets, it is suggested this 
Committee recommends that consideration is given to mandating the Armed Forces 
e-learning module.  
https://covenantfund.org.uk/resources/raising-awareness-of-the-armed-forces-
covenant/ 
 
Armed Forces Act 
 

2.5 The Armed Forces Act, which gained Royal Assent in Parliament on 15 December 
2021, enshrines the Armed Forces Covenant in law for the first time to help prevent 
service personnel and veterans being disadvantaged when accessing essential 
services, like healthcare, education and housing.  

41

https://covenantfund.org.uk/resources/raising-awareness-of-the-armed-forces-covenant/
https://covenantfund.org.uk/resources/raising-awareness-of-the-armed-forces-covenant/


 
2.6 The Armed Forces Act (2021) required the Secretary of State for Defence to lay 

Statutory Guidance before Parliament. The Statutory Guidance has now been 
signed off.  This explains the Armed Forces Covenant, and includes examples of 
where disadvantage can arise, of good practice, and other useful information.  The 
guidance is available online.  A link is provided as a background document at 6.4.  

 
2.7 The implications of the Act for South Kesteven District Council are:  
 

• Playing a key role in the provision or commissioning of services with partners 
and joining up support around the needs of an individual and their family 

• Building upon existing partnerships and good practice to foster local flexibility 
and support innovative approaches 

• Modification of policies, processes or procedures and how information is 
recorded to meet the due regard duty 

• Keeping any new burdens costs incurred in getting ready for and complementing 
the new duty under review. 
 

2.8 The practical steps the Council is taking to get ready for the Act includes:  
 

• Awareness raising 

• Identifying training needs for relevant staff and Members 

• Engaging the Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) and 
Data Protection Officer. 
 

2.9 The private sector is not covered by the Act. However, where relevant functions 
have been contracted out to private companies, the Council as the body responsible 
for managing the contract, will continue to be subject to the proposed legislation 
and will need to ensure policies and processes of the contractor are compliant. 

 
Defence Employer Recognition Scheme 
 

2.10 In July 2022, South Kesteven District Council was awarded the Employer 
Recognition Scheme (ERS) Gold Award by the Ministry of Defence (MOD) for 
support for the armed forces community. This makes the Council one of only 12 
Gold Award holders in Lincolnshire, and among 643 Gold Award holders in the 
country. 

 
2.11 The award was officially received by The Leader of the Council at the National 

Memorial Arboretum (the British site of national remembrance at Alrewas, 
Staffordshire) on 2 November 2022. 

 
2.12 The accolade, the highest available in the ERS, recognises the Council’s action to 

support currently serving troops, service families, veterans and cadets.  
 
2.13 Working closely with the East Midlands Director of the Reserves and Cadets 

Association, the award submission in early 2022 focussed on the Council’s work on 
advocacy and encouraging awareness of and support for the defence community, 
including details of: 

 

42



• Closer working with Prince William of Gloucester Barracks 
• The Council’s investment in Wyndham Park’s transformation to a WW1 

Memorial Park 
• The Council’s support for and investment in Grantham’s Heroes 

Commemorative Orchard 
• The hosting of public tours at key sites, including St Vincent’s Hall in Grantham 

(Dambusters Raid Head Quarters in 1943) and Twyford Wood ( ownformerly known 
as Station 479, responsible for the supply and maintenance of all aircraft withing 
the United States of America Air Force 9th Air Force in the build up to D-Day) 

• The Council’s launch of its own Armed Forces Discount card, connecting 
veterans to local businesses offering special discounts / offers 

• Production of the District Heritage of Flight publication and World War II-related 
stories (WWII) hosted on the Discover South Kesteven website at 
https://www.discoversouthkesteven.com?aviationheritage 

• Media campaigns during Armed Forces Week (20-25 June 2022) 
• Worldwide media coverage of American WWII veteran visit to Royal Air Force 

(RAF) North Witham 
• Financial support for Remembrance celebrations 

• Military-related flag raising ceremonies 

• Our employment of an Adult Cadet Force Volunteer – housing officer Drew 
Palmer – thereby supporting work with cadet detachments across the district. 
 

2.14 Images illustrating some of this work will be shared with Members in the PowerPoint 
presentation. Other useful resources, such as the Local Authority Guide to the 
Covenant, best practice website and links to relevant organisations can be found 
on the Armed Forces Covenant website at: 
https://www.armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/localauthorities/useful-resources/ 

  
Housing policies and the military 
 

2.15  The Council’s Housing Team has been kept up to date on Armed Forces Act 
requirements and these are reflected in the Housing Allocations Policy (see 6.5 in 
the Background Papers section). 

2.16 Anyone applying to join the housing register is asked whether they have served. 
This does not imply preferential treatment, however there could be factors affecting 
assessment of their application.  

2.17 The Council’s new ‘people-first’ approach will help to ensure personal 
circumstances are noted. 

2.18 When assessing a housing register application, a key consideration is an applicant’s 
local connection with the area to which they are applying.  As a serving member of 
the armed forces, this can be a challenge as often the usual requirements of 
residence or family members in the area cannot be met. Therefore, certain 
exemptions are applied to ensure members of the armed forces are not 
disadvantaged by this.  

2.19 Specific changes under the Act also include that anyone leaving the military can 
apply for housing anywhere in the country and should be classed as an exemption 
to the local connection criteria. 

43

https://www.discoversouthkesteven.com/?aviationheritage
https://www.armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/localauthorities/useful-resources/


2.20 Another key area within the Act addresses homeless ex-military. The emerging 
Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy is benefitting from specialist advice from the East 
Midlands Pensions and Advisory Committee.  

2.21 Different criteria apply to homeless ex-military, where veterans still must prove a 
local connection but can use the location of work to establish eligibility – rather than 
being identified by their last military base. 

The Council as an Employer 

 

2.22 As a signatory to the Armed Forces Covenant and a Gold Award holder under the 

DERS, the Council has ensured its staff handbook demonstrates the commitment 

to support staff within the military community. Key considerations include: 

• An extra ten days annual leave will be granted for a Reservist to meet 

commitments, such as training camps or courses 

• If a Reservist is required to mobilise, policies and procedures help deal with  
each individual situation, including return to work post mobilisation 

• Cadet Force Adult Volunteers are entitled to a minimum of five extra days 

holiday yearly, and can take advantage of the policy permitting two days paid 

leave for agreed voluntary activities 

• Military spouses’ requests for flexible working due to forces-related changes of 
circumstance are accommodated wherever possible 

• Spouses and partners are exempt from the normal Council requirement to repay 
training costs should an employee leave within two years of council-funded 
training, thereby recognising unforeseen circumstance. 
 

2.23 The Council operates a guaranteed interview scheme for all volunteer reservists, 
service leavers and veterans whose qualifications meet the criteria of the role, 
thereby ensuring they suffer no disadvantage through service. 

Armed Forces Champion  
 

2.24 Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren was formally appointed at 22 September 2022 
Council meeting as the lead Member for the Armed Forces.   

 
2.25 A Senior Army Officer prior to retirement, Councillor Dixon-Warren’s postings 

included the First Gulf War, Northern Ireland and Bosnia and Herzegovina, with 
garrison duties in the United Kingdom (UK), Germany and Hong Kong. Of relevance 
to the Armed Forces Champion role, was Councillor Dixon-Warren’s former role as 
a Joint Regional Liaison Officer. This role focussed on delivering the Army’s UK 
Engagement Mission to ensure all communities understand the role of the Army 
and the varied tasks the Army undertakes to secure UK interests at home and 
abroad. 
 
The Greater Lincolnshire Defence and Security Network 
 

2.26 South Kesteven District Council has engaged with the newly created industry-led 
forum, the Greater Lincolnshire Defence and Security Network (GLDSN). The 
GLDSN brings together national and international defence organisations, 
manufacturing, research, development and innovation expertise.  The network is 

44



designed to provide a single forum to overcome sector challenges and identify 
business opportunities in Greater Lincolnshire and Rutland.  

 
2.27 Set up by the Greater Lincolnshire Learning and Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP), 

the Council was represented at 20 September 2022 launch event hosted at the 
International Bomber Command Centre in Lincoln. The GLDSN aims to become 
recognised as a Regional Defence Cluster (RDSC). This will identify companies 
already supplying defence and open up opportunities for others to access the multi-
billion pound Ministry of Defence budgets as manufacturers and suppliers of high 
technology expertise and products. 

 
2.28 The GLDSN presents an opportunity for the Council’s economic development 

function to engage with South Kesteven manufacturers and innovative businesses, 
to introduce them to the network with a view to accessing the network’s defence-
related supply chains, and draw on Government funding to develop ideas, 
innovations and new products. 

 
2.29 The GLDSN is planning to exhibit at the Defence and Security Equipment 

International (DSEI) event scheduled for 9 September 2023 at ExCel London 
exhibition and international convention centre in the Custom House area of 
Newham, East London. The DSEI is the only event to integrate all the pillars of 
national security and defence: Air, Space, Land, Naval, Security and Cyber. The 
DSEI is supported by the MOD and the UK Defence & Security Exports (part of the 
Department for International Trade) and serves as a forum between governments, 
national armed forces, industry and academics. 
 
Army and civilian networking event 
 

2.30 On 23 November 2022, the Army Training Regiment in Grantham hosted a high-
level networking reception at Prince William of Gloucester Barracks, supported by 
the Council. 

 
2.31 The cross-sector event invited guests from businesses, other local authorities, 

community organisations, veteran networks and fellow signatories to the Armed 
Forces Covenant.  The reception offered invitees the chance to hear about:  

 

• commercial opportunities from Defence and Security Network 

• how to better support our veteran community  

• skills ex-military personnel offer to organisations, and how to access the pool of 
talent they represent  

• ways in which organisations can sign up to and work collaboratively within the 
Armed Forces Covenant and engage with the Defence Employer Recognition 
Scheme 
 

2.32 The event was evidence of the close working relationship with Prince William of 
Gloucester Barracks, illustrated by recent inspections of Army Reserves Pass-Off 
Parades by both the Chairman and the Leader. 
 
 
 

45



Arnhem/Airborne Forces Trail 
 

2.33 A new project is exploring potential for a military heritage trail to explain the local 
build-up to the Battle of Arnhem in September 1944, linking that to how the offensive 
unfolded in Holland. 

 
2.34 Military specialists and veterans are working with the Council to map and research 

key sites and stories to share a largely untold story of how paratroopers of the First 
Airborne Division trained locally for the iconic Arnhem airborne assault, 
immortalised in the film ‘A Bridge Too Far’. Many billeted (lodged temporarily) in 
villages and flew from RAF Barkston Heath and RAF Saltby.  

    
2.35 Research will include the essential contribution of the United States Army Air Force 

9th Troop Carrier Command, who carried troops to Europe from huge American-
occupied airfields across South Kesteven. 

 
2.36 It will include sites at Twyford Wood (near Colsterworth), Easton Walled Gardens, 

Stoke Rochford Hall, Harlaxton Manor, RAF Saltby, RAF Barkston Heath, Fulbeck 
Hall and St Vincent’s Church in Caythorpe. 

 
2.37 This evolving project has potential impacts across South Kesteven. For example, 

there is relevance for Stamford, where the 1st Polish Independent Parachute 
Brigade had its HQ at Rock House in 1944, and other links are being discovered. 

 
2.38 The trail has probable international visitor appeal with relevance for American, 

Polish and Dutch audiences, and already has the backing of key military 
organisations.  It will offer cultural, heritage and rural economy benefits by providing 
interpretation boards at local public houses, businesses and accommodation 
providers to encourage visitors to the District.  

 
2.39 The development of South Kesteven District Council’s Visitor Economy Strategy 

was considered by the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting of 6 December 2022. Members of the Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee are being asked to support the 
suggestion that recognition of South Kesteven’s rich aviation history is included in 
the final published Visitor Economy Strategy.  

 
2.40 External funding will have to be secured, potentially through the Covenant Fund 

Trust (when the 2023 criteria are announced) or Heritage Lottery Fund, with some 
revenue funding potentially being sourced through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 

 

3. Key Considerations 

 
3.1 The new Armed Forces Covenant Duty is now published. Statutory Guidance 

supporting the new Duty has been disseminated to housing colleagues.  
 

3.2 The new Covenant Duty places a legal obligation on public bodies to pay ‘due 
regard to the principles of the Covenant’ and requires decisions about the 

46



development and delivery of certain services to be made with conscious 
consideration of the needs of the Armed Forces community. 
 

3.3 It is understood there is no desire to add an administrative burden unduly on 
organisations, such as the Council. The legislation has been designed around a 
Duty to pay due regard, as this is the best way to minimise any burden placed on 
service providers while maximising the wider impact of Covenant delivery into the 
future.  
 

3.4 Development and delivery of the Arnhem and Airborne Forces Trail will require 
external funding, as detailed in the background section of this report.   

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 
4.1 The Covenant Duty does not mandate what organisations must do – only that they 

must consider the Armed Forces community alongside other legal requirements. 
This allows affected organisations the flexibility to balance local needs within the 
local context. It is for this reason the ‘do nothing’ option was discounted. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
5.1 The reason for the recommendations are to engender an all-council commitment to 

support the military community.  
 

6. Background Papers 
 
6.1 Signing of the Lincolnshire Armed Forces Community Covenant, Non-Key Decision 

approved 30 April 2012, available online at:  
moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?Iid=15916&optionId
=0 

 
6.2 Armed Forces Community Covenant, Report to Communities and Wellbeing 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, published 5 September 2017, available online 
at: Item 28 –  
moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cid=628&MID=3439 

 
6.3 Armed Forces Community Convent, Non-Key Decision approved 18 September 

2017, available online at:  
moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?Iid=22987&optionId
=0 

 
6.4 Statutory guidance on the Armed Forces Covent Duty, produced by the UK 

Government, published online in 2022, available at:  
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/armed-forces-covenant-duty-

statutory-guidance  
 
6.5 South Kesteven District Council Housing Allocation Policy 2022, Report to Cabinet, 

Published on 12 July 2022, available online at:  
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28211&p=0 
 

47

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=15916&optionId=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=15916&optionId=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=628&MID=3439
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22987&optionId=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22987&optionId=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/armed-forces-covenant-duty-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/armed-forces-covenant-duty-statutory-guidance
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28211&p=0


6.6 Political Proportionality, Allocation of Committee Seats and appointment of armed 
Forces Lead Member, Report to Council, published on 22 September 2022, 
available online at Item 43:  
moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cid=261&MID=4283#AI
28593 

 
6.7 Development of South Kesteven District Council’s Visitor Economy Strategy, Report 

to Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, published on 6 

December 2022, available online at:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=629&MId=431

4 

 

7. Appendices 

7.1  Appendix A: Armed Forces Covenant Action Plan 2022-2023 

 

 

 

48

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MID=4283#AI28593
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MID=4283#AI28593
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=629&MId=4314
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=629&MId=4314


Appendix A - Armed Forces Covenant Action Plan 2022-2023 

Topic Action Timeline Outcome 

1) Armed Forces Act Statutory 
Guidance 

Disseminate when available Dec 2022 to 
Jan 2023 

Take up of best practice examples 

2) Arnhem / Airborne Forces trail Research Dec 2022 to 
Jan 2023 

Fully informed funding bid 

Funding Feb to  
March 2023 

Funding sources identified 

Partner linkages March to  
Dec 2023 

Trail route confirmed 

Design April to  
Oct 2023 

Interpretation boards designed 

3) Employment of ex-military Produce digital resource 
illustrating skills and how to 
access veterans 

Jan to  
Feb 2023 

Promotion and encouragement of local employers to access 
military talent pool (supported by working with the Council’s 
Economic Development team) 

4) Staff awareness and training Further develop e-learning 
modules 

Feb to 
Aug 2023 

Whole Authority support 

5) Remembrance 2023  District wide commemoration 
/ art installations 

Feb to 
Nov 2023 

Remembrance legacy for towns and villages  

6) Reserves and cadet force 
promotion 

Business breakfasts March to  
April 2023 

Improved awareness within business community 

7) Funding opportunities Assess opportunities from the 
Covenant Trust Fund 2023 
priorities 

April 2023 Council or partner projects identified for partnership working 
and optimisation of grant funding opportunities 

8) Armed Forces Day 2023 Promote the 
#SaluteOurForces campaign 

24 June 2023 Tribute paid to the British Armed Forces community for their 
hard work, dedication and efforts to keep us safe in the United 
Kingdom and across the globe 

9) Advocate Covenant and Defence 
Employer recognition Scheme 
(DERS)  

Update website up  Ongoing Provision of digital resources 

10) Greater Lincolnshire Defence and 
Security Network 

Promote within businesses Ongoing Promotion of membership and opportunities (supported by the 
Council’s Economic Development team) 

11) Prince William of Gloucester 
(PWOG)  

Liaise with new personnel Ongoing Opportunities to work collaboratively in support of armed forces 
community fully explored 

 

49

A
ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
 

8 December 2022 
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 

 

 

Energy Efficiency and Grant Funding Update 

Council Housing 
 

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Acting Director of Housing  

  Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report seeks to update the Committee on the energy efficiency measures being 

delivered within the Council’s housing stock with the support of grant funding that has been 

awarded to deliver these improvements. Also to inform the Committee of the recent 

submission to the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) by the Council. 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

That the Committee: 

1. That the Committee notes the final position with regard to the delivery 
through the Local Authority Delivery scheme (LAD2) grant funding within 
the Council’s social housing properties.  

2. The Committee notes the grant funding submission to the Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) to further support delivery of energy 
efficiency measures for the next two years. 

 

51

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 This report sets out the funding that has been achieved through external grant and 

how the grant has been used to improved energy efficiency in the Council’s housing 

stock.  Should the SHDF application be successful then Council will be required to 

accept the grant and amend the capital programme accordingly. 

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 The appropriate governance has been followed in advance of the application for 

this funding.  

 

Completed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer 

 

Climate Change 

 

1.3 South Kesteven District Council have been effective in leveraging in available grant 

funding schemes for domestic energy efficiency. Both schemes are central to the 

council’s wider work on climate change and carbon emissions within the district. 

1.4 The delivery of outlined Local Authority Delivery scheme LAD2 funding will result in 

a tangible carbon reduction from the wider district, associated with the upgraded 

heating systems. There are additional benefits for tenants, including addressing 

issues of fuel poverty and affordability of heating. 

1.5 The Social Housing Decarbonisation Funding (SHDF) represents a strong 

opportunity for the Council to receive co-funding to continue a programme of energy 

efficiency upgrades over two years. The SHDF scheme has the core objectives of 

52



improving energy efficiency and reducing associated carbon emissions, alongside 

reducing fuel bills and fuel poverty, and providing a regional boost for green jobs.  

 

Completed by: Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 

2. Background to the Report 

 
2.1 The Committee will be aware of the current pressures affecting all residents of our 

community in relation to increased utility costs, leading to increased numbers of 

residents in fuel poverty. It is estimated that fuel poverty impacts over 3.19 million 

people in the UK and, is reported that this is on the rise. The Council has priorities 

within its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide both: 

 

• A Clean and Sustainable Environment 

• Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents 

 

With these in mind it is important that the Council seeks to take the necessary 

actions in order to seek to address this issue.  

 

2.2 The Council has been seeking to explore and secure grant funding opportunities to 

maximise the delivery of energy efficiency upgrades to our housing stock. We were 

successful in securing LAD2 funding which has provided match funding for 

improvements over the last two years. 

 

2.3 LAD2 Funding 

 The LAD2 scheme aims to improve the energy efficiency of the heating systems 

within low income and low energy performance homes with a focus on Energy 

Performance Certificate (EPC) ratings of E, F or G. 

 

2.4 The Council have delivered energy efficiency improvements to 164 properties 

through this programme which equates to 2.78% of our stock. 

 The improvements were delivered across two main heating types: 

o  Electric Storage Heaters (ESH) 78 installations. 

o  Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) 86 installations. 

 The Council have enabled draw down on grant of £770,800, we are now in the 

process of claiming a further 9% of the project cost to cover administration and 

ancillaries which equates to £69,372, currently we are awaiting feedback from 

Midlands Net Zero Hub (MNZH). 

 

2.5 The Council has worked in partnership with contractors to qualify the installations 

to satisfy the grant conditions. The delivery of this programme has been hampered 

by numerous factors most notably: 

o Supply chain issues 

o Contractor resources 

o Qualification of installations 

o Staffing, both contractor and Council resources 

53



 

2.6 SHDF funding bid 

Wave 2.1 of the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF), announced by the 

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), is a £800m fund 

designed to support local authorities and registered social housing providers to 

deliver warm, energy-efficient homes, reduce carbon emissions and fuel bills, tackle 

fuel poverty, and support green jobs.   

 

2.7 Core scheme criteria is to upgrade social housing with an Energy Performance 

Certificate (EPC) below a Band C, with adequate energy efficiency and where 

appropriate provide low-carbon heating upgrades.  

2.8 Regarding the nature of upgrades that can be funded through SHDF, the core aims 

are to improve energy efficiency, reduce carbon emissions and reduce fuel bills for 

the tenant. A fabric-first approach (of insulation and heat-loss prevention measures) 

to works is expected for upgraded properties. Eligible upgrades can include energy 

efficiency measures such as external wall or cavity wall insulation and additional loft 

insulation. Low-carbon heat upgrades can be applied to some properties, with a 

focus on air source heat pumps as a primary measure. 

 

2.9 Various cost caps are in place through the scheme, depending on a properties’ 

starting EPC rating and characteristics. If successful, the Council are expected to 

co-fund the programme at a minimum match-funding level of 50%. 

2.10 The expectation of SHDF for completed properties is that they will achieve an 

updated EPC rating of C, or the maximum uplift possible. 

 

2.11 South Kesteven District Council has identified the opportunity to bid into SHDF to 

facilitate energy efficiency upgrades of Council properties, supporting the Corporate 

Plan objective under Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents to provide high 

quality homes and services to those who rent property from the Council.  

 

2.12 Through work and consultation with key stakeholders, a portfolio of properties has 

been proposed for energy efficiency upgrades through the SHDF scheme. These 

include a number of properties with an EPC rating of E, F, or G and no connection 

to the gas main for heating, as well as a select number of properties with an EPC 

of D. 

 

2.13 SK Housing stock property EPC data: 

Starting EPC of property Count 

D 133 

E 146 

F 42 

G 12 

Total 333 

 

54



2.14 A programme of energy efficiency and low-carbon heating upgrades has been 

prepared for the above properties, considering property archetype, heating system 

and relevant cost caps for the SHDF scheme. 

 

The Council has prepared a bid to upgrade the properties: 

 

Total Administrative and Ancillary cost £972,788.63 

Total Capital cost £6,293,208.46 

Total £7,265,997.09 

 

2.15 It is expected through SHDF for applicants to put forward a minimum co-funding of 

50%, matching the grant funding received. Due to maximising the cost caps on 

some expected energy efficiency upgrades, it is estimated that the Council will 

therefore contribute the below total funding. This is equivalent to 53% of the overall 

total cost of the project.  

 

2.16 This budget contribution will be sourced from the proposed Housing Revenue 

Account Capital Budgets in 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

 

Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund Grant request £3,418,480.27 

South Kesteven District Council co-funding allocation £3,847,516.82 

 

2.17 The Council have been working with a contractor on the early stages of the project, 

allowing for expert advice on what energy efficiency upgrades can be expected and 

to develop firm costs for the scheme. If the bid to the SHDF proves to be successful, 

the Council has identified a compliant procurement route for the project in order to 

progress within the expected timescales. 

 

2.18 The Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have advised 

of the below key dates for applications to Wave 2.1 of the Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund: 

o 18th November 2022 – Final date for SHDF applications from local 

authorities 

o December 2022 – Bid assessment ends 

o Late February/early March 2023 – Successful projects notified 

o March 2023 – Grant funding agreements signed, and enablement funding 

released 

o April 2023- March 2025 – Project delivery 

 

2.19 The Council will provide updates on the status of the application throughout the 

process to key stakeholders. A list of the properties that have been included within 

the bid submission can be found in, Appendix 1 (Exempt) – SHDF property list. 

 

 

 

 

55



3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 If successful the SHDF will enable valuable works to be undertaken to our housing 

stock which shall maximise the properties energy efficiency. 

 

4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 Committee to note the final position with regard to the LAD2 funded activity 

delivered. 

 

4.2 THE SHDF scheme provides a tremendous opportunity to bring in grant funding to 

enhance the energy efficiency of our stock, aiding us to deliver the Corporate Plan 

objective under Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents to provide high 

quality homes and services to those who rent property from the Council. 

 

5. Appendices 
 

5.1 Appendix 1 - Exempt – SHDF property list 

 

 

56



Document is Restricted

57

Appendix 1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Rural & Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

8th December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke 
                The Leader of the Council 
 
 

 

 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 

2022/23 Mid-Year Report 

Report Author 

Robert Warburton, Performance Analyst 

  Robert.warburton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

This Mid-Year update report outlines South Kesteven District Councils performance 

against the Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the year of 2022/23. 

 

 

Recommendations To The Committee 

1. Note the contents of the 2022/23 Mid-Year performance report. 

2. Members to consider if any concerns highlighted by the report require 
additional investigation to be added to the work programme. 

 

 

 

Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Growth and our economy 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

Healthy and strong communities 

65

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Clean and sustainable environment 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The financial considerations where appropriate are referenced throughout this 

report. 

Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 Regular reporting on agreed actions and measures is to be welcomed from a 

governance point of view, as it provides a transparent mechanism for reporting on 

performance. 

 Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer  

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The South Kesteven Corporate Plan 2020-23 was approved by Council on 1 

October 2020. It was agreed by Council that actions, key performance 

indicators (KPIs) and targets would be developed by the relevant overview 

and scrutiny committee, which would retain oversight of the performance 

management arrangements at a strategic level. These actions and indicators 

were presented to this committee and agreed on 12th November 2020. 

2.2 The Year End report for 2021/22 was presented to the Committee on 23rd 

June 2022 and outlined the performance against the Corporate Plan for the 

previous financial year.  

2.3 This report builds on these historical reports to provide an update on 

performance to the mid-year point of the 2022/23 financial year. It 

incorporates the changes recommended by the last KPI review to outline 

areas of the council’s performance which are successful and to advise where 

challenges may lay. From these results this committee may need to pay 

additional attention either through questions to senior officers during the 

66



session or more detailed investigations to be added to the committee work 

programme. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 Appendix 1 outlines the overall performance against the 12 actions being 

presented in this session, as well as specific performance against the sub 

measures contained within those. Specific commentary is provided for each 

action, but the summary is as follows:  

1. 8 of the actions are rated Green. These are actions which are on 

or above target as planned.  

2. 2 actions are rated as Amber, these are those off target by less 

than 10% or where milestone achievement is delayed but with 

resolution in place to be achieved within a reasonable timeframe.  

3. 2 actions are rated Red. These are those falling significantly 

below target or overdue with no specific resolution date planned. 

 

3.2 There have been some areas of underperformance identified in this report that 

members may want to pay specific attention to.   

 

4. Appendices 
 

4.1 Appendix 1 - R&C Mid-Year KPI Report 2022-23 

 

 

67



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 32 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

Rural and Communi es Performance Targets 

Priority No: Ac on: Status: 

Healthy and Strong Communities 2 
Embed the work of the SK Community Hub to support volunteering and the 

Voluntary & Community Sector.  

 

Healthy and Strong Communities 4 
Continue to work in partnership with the police and the community in tack-

ling crime, investing in the CCTV service  

 

Healthy and Strong Communities 8 
Embrace the national Mental Health Challenge, ensuring that the Council 

places mental wellbeing at the heart of decision making.  

 

Healthy and Strong Communities 9 
Make best use of different funding sources to support the voluntary and cul-

tural sector within the District.  

 

Healthy and Strong Communities 10 Protect our most vulnerable residents with robust safeguarding processes.  

 

69

A
ppendix 1



Page 33 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

Priority No: Ac on: Status: 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 1 

Work in partnership with the housing market to stimulate housing growth.  

 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 2 

Work to reduce and prevent homelessness in our District.  

 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 3 

Increase the supply of high quality, sustainable Council houses.  

 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 4 

Undertake a Planning Review to improve performance and support local 
sustainable, high quality growth.  

 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 5 

Undertake a Housing Review to provide the highest quality service possible 
to our tenants.  

 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 6 

Work with housing associations and developers to ensure quality affordable 
housing is delivered.  

 

Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents 9 

Ensure that major developments in South Kesteven are high quality, with 
sustainable, good design.  

 

70



Page 34 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Healthy And Strong Communities 2 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Embed the work of the SK Community Hub to support volunteering and the Voluntary & Community Sector.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for People & Safer Communities and Director of Growth 

& Culture  
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : Further strengthened relationship with the VCS & increased levels of volunteering  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Number of community 
groups supported that      
provide volunteering         

opportunities  

103 Year End 56  

        
Commentary : This performance indicator is reflective of the work to support groups from across the broad spectrum of the voluntary and 
community sector. Officers provide support to groups in the development and implementation of appropriate governance structures to ensure 
they are fit for purpose and funding ready. Officers also support groups seeking funding – both through internal funding streams and by      
identifying external funding sources. Groups seeking external funding will also be supported in preparing applications to increase chances of 
success with regional and national funding bodies.    

 

Current     
Status 

71



Page 35 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Healthy And Strong Communities 4 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Continue to work in partnership with the police and the community in tackling crime, investing in the CCTV service  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for People & Safer Communities and Deputy Chief      

Executive 
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : SKDC is enabled to work proactively with police and other partners to prevent and solve crime in the district  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Number of arrests as a     
percentage of overall         

incidents where CCTV has 
been proactively used.  

3% Quarterly 4.81%  

        
Commentary :  

In Q2 the CCTV Control Centre dealt with 2223 incidents and supported the Police in making 103 arrests. Once example of these was the use 
of the cameras installed in Wyndham Park earlier this year which helped lead to the arrest of a 27-year-old man who has been charged with 
being a public nuisance after reports from several women that a man had followed them around the park and refused to stop when asked. 

Current      
Status 

72



Page 36 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Healthy And Strong Communities 8 

Status : Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Embrace the national Mental Health Challenge, ensuring that the Council places mental wellbeing at the heart of decision     
making.  

Responsible Post : The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities and Deputy Chief  
Executive  Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : Meet the Mental Health Challenge  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History Current     

Status Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Continue the development of 
the 5 workstreams, via the 
Mental Health Working Party 

Y Quarterly Y 

    

Work with local partners to 
access external funding to 
support community schemes 

Y Quarterly Y 

    

Work with the community to 
develop a mental health   
forum in the Deepings 

Forum 

Established 
Quarterly 

Forum         
Established 

    
Commentary : The Working Group has continued in its restructure plan to have a Member represent each of the towns and one each to repre-
sent Rural North and Rural South. The agreed Mental Health Allies met recently to discuss next steps and ways to support the mental wellbe-
ing of the communities they represent with follow up actions now being undertaken. The internal wellbeing plan continues to be followed - 
SKDC, led by the Wellbeing Team and Cllr Mark Whittington have partnered with local charity Don't Lose Hope to deliver a wellbeing week fo-
cusing on men's mental health in November.  

73



Page 37 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Healthy And Strong Communities 9 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Make best use of different funding sources to support the voluntary and cultural sector within the District.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for People & Safer Communities and Director of Growth 

& Culture  
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : SKDC contributing to the activities of the VCS.  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Amount of funding brought 
into the district levered with 
support from SKDC funding 

streams  

£37,000.00 
Subject to 
available     

programme 
and budgets  

Year End £63,527.00          

Commentary : The Quarter 2 status against this indicator shows we currently exceeding target for the year. In assessing this achievement      
however we must consider the external influences that can add or detract from the outcome. Quarter2 saw the completion of a large-scale pro-
ject within the district that pulled in funding from multiple sources. The Council's £5,000 contribution to this project was utilised to help lever in 
the required funds to see this project realised. 

 

 

Current     
Status 

74



Page 38 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Healthy And Strong Communities 10 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Protect our most vulnerable residents with robust safeguarding processes.  

Responsible Post : The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities and Director of Housing 
and Property  Measured : 6 Monthly 

What does Success Look 
Like : 

Provision of direct support, and through partners and agencies, to secure a reduction in the number of             
vulnerable adults and children that suffer abuse or neglect in the district  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History 

Current     
Status Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Number of relevant staff 
trained in applying effective 

safeguarding processes  
90% Year End 96% 

    

Meet the requirements placed 
upon the local  authority under 
the Children Act 2004 and the 

Care Act 2014  

Outstanding rating 
in s11 audit 

Annually 
Achieved Sep 

21 

    
Commentary: The need for staff from across the Authority to complete safeguarding training has been fully embraced by senior managers. 
Excellent completion training must be achieved during 2021/22 which shall ensure staff are equipped to identify and report safeguarding is-
sues. 

The Authority has recently completed the Lincolnshire Assessment and Assurance Framework (LAAF) in relation to safeguarding adults. All 
aspects of the audit were evidenced as effective. The audit is currently in moderation stages with feedback anticipated early in 2023. 

75



Page 39 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 1 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Work in partnership with the housing market to stimulate housing growth.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy and Director of Growth 

and Culture   
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : 

Achieve the adopted Local Plan target for delivery of homes, with a particular focus on addressing historic under 
achievement of growth targets within Grantham.  

Measure  Target  Target Period  Achieved  
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Number of houses complete 650 Year End  244 
        

Number of houses complete 
In Grantham  

300 Year End  28 
    

Commentary : The Local Plan was adopted on 30th January 2020. The Plan’s annual target for housing completions is 650 dwellings. A total 
of 244* dwellings have been completed in Q1 & 2. The Local Plan identifies land to provided 53% of housing in Grantham, 18% in Stamford, 
7% in Bourne, 8% in the Deepings, and 14% in the villages. Completions in the four main towns accounted for 69% of the completions, with 28 
dwellings completed in Grantham.    

A dwelling is counted as a completion when it is substantially complete; this means that it has working facilities (kitchens and bathrooms) and 
is ready for occupying (it does not need to be furnished).  

Officers are reviewing the Council’s housing needs as part of the local plan review which will also include reviewing where to allocate any addi-
tional housing should we need to increase our housing supply.   

*(Please note these are provisional figures and will be confirmed at the end of the year through the publication of the Annual Position State-
ment or the 5-Year Housing Land Supply Statement).   

Current     
Status  76



Page 40 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 2 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Work to reduce and prevent homelessness in our District. 

Responsible Post : The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property and Director of Housing and 
Property  Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : Work to reduce the number of homeless persons in the district  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History 

Current     
Status Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Proportion of prevention  
cases successfully resolved 

>50% Quarterly  39.06%  
    

Proportion of relief cases 
successfully resolved 

>40% Quarterly 40.85%  
    

Number of homelessness 
duty cases accepted in year 

<95 Quarterly 104  
    

Proportion of homeless   
cases accepted as final duty  

>60% Quarterly : 78.2%  
        

Commentary : There is a robust team in place that is co-ordinating the Districts response to homelessness and homelessness prevention. 
There are critical pressures on everyday business due to the significant demands that are emerging in relation to the response required around 
Asylum, Homes for Ukraine and the Council being a host to the Afghan Bridging Hotel. Alongside the current rise in relation to housing demand 
on the 1st of July there was a change in guidance to set out that there is adoption of National Dispersal.  

There is a strong focus on prevention to support and accommodate people in to the private sector alongside accommodating in council owned 
stock. In order to support housing need the adoption and implementation of the Allocations policy enables the team to provide clear focus 
around individuals and families most in need. 

77



Page 41 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 3 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Increase the supply of high quality, sustainable Council houses.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for Housing & Property and Director of Housing and    

Property  
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : 

The delivery of new Council Homes that meet the relevant (Code for Sustainable Homes), and reduce overall Co2 
emissions  

Measure  Target  Target Period  Achieved  
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Number of new Council 
Homes provided  

15 Year End 0  
        

Number of Council Homes 
that have solid fuel heating 

replaced  
100 / 252 Year End - 

    
Commentary : The below sites for new council homes are progressing as detailed below; 

Swinegate, new supported housing development comprising up to 20 units, planning has been approved and options are being explored to       
expedite development by utilising a blend of delivery models. 

Elizabeth Rd, development of 4 homes, planning has been approved and procurement options are being considered.  

Larch Close, development of 21 homes, planning permissions being sought with a minor amendment required. 

Uplands Drive, development of 6 units, public consultation to be launched in the autumn. 

Due to temporary issues we are currently unable to report the number of homes that have had their solid fuel heating system replaced, the      
number provided at the end of Q1 was 3 so we are unlikely to be on target however the scope of this action should be reviewed as these          
replacements have formed a small part of the larger LAD2 project where we have improved the energy efficiency of over 160 council homes 
and so more actions will be needed to monitor overall performance in this area.  

Current     
Status  

Q2 2022/23 

78



Page 42 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 4 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Undertake a Planning Review to improve performance and support local sustainable, high quality growth.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy and Director of Growth 

and Culture   
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : 

Completion of Planning Review and implementation of recommendations  

Measure  Target  Target Period  Achieved  

Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

% Major Applications        
Determined in Time 

>60% Quarterly 100% 
    

% Non-Major Applications 
Determined in Time 

>70% Quarterly 88.60% 
    

Commentary : Overall performance remains excellent, it is recommended that consideration is given to increasing the targets for this action as 
part of the mid year KPI review to better reflect the consistent high performance in this area.  

Performance remains high tested against the KPI and the nationally set performance targets.  It is recognised that more work needs to be un-
dertaken in terms of benchmarking against our comparison/neighbouring authorities and we are looking at our own processes and                
performance to seek further improvements.   

 

 

Current     
Status   

79



Page 43 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 5 

Status : Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Undertake a Housing Review to provide the highest quality service possible to our tenants. 

Responsible Post : The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property and Director of Housing and 
Property  Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : Completion of Housing Audit recommendations through an approved Improvement Plan  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History Current     

Status 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Rent Collection (inc. arrears) 48.68% Quarterly 48.45%          
% Properties with a valid gas 

certificate 
100% Quarterly 99.16% 

    
Average Void Relet Time 

(Calendar Days) 
<60 Quarterly 80.97 

    
Percentage of responsive     

repairs resolved on first visit 
80% Quarterly - 

    
Percentage of Properties  

meeting the Decent Homes 
Standard  

80% Quarterly 94.49% 
    

Commentary: Our current rent collection performance is slightly below target, this in part could be attributed to the early effects of the current 
cost of living crisis. The teams are aiding with support and active referrals to support agencies to aid those most in need.  

We continue to meet monthly with the Regulator in relation to our performance, these meetings are going well with the performance as         
reported in September below; 

Legionella, Asbestos and Fire Risk Assessment 100% 

Gas, 99.14% with 40 non-compliant properties currently in the court process 

Electrical, 86.63% 

Our repairs team continue to deliver good quality work despite the current pressures in relation to the number of vacancies that we are         
currently recruiting to. This is evidenced in the satisfaction rating achieved of 4.5/5 following the completion of a repair. 

80



Page 44 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 6 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Work with housing associations and developers to ensure quality affordable housing is delivered.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for Housing & Property and Director of Growth and    

Culture   
Measured : Quarterly 

What does Success Look 
Like : Increase in the number of Affordable new homes delivered in the district  

Measure Target Target Period Achieved 
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Number of affordable homes 
delivered in South Kesteven  

 100  Year end 66 
        

Commentary : Of the 244* dwellings completed in Q1 & 2, 66 dwellings were affordable houses. 17 dwellings were delivered in the four main 
towns (Stamford (5), Grantham (5), Market Deeping (7)) and 49 in Barrowby.   

The Council has been working with developers and Registered Providers to deliver quality affordable housing in the District.  During 2022, two 
fully affordable schemes were completed; a development of five bungalows at Land off Trinity Road, Stamford (SKDC scheme) and 49 units 
delivered by Longhurst in Barrowby (part of a wider allocation for 270 dwellings). 

The Council continues to work closely with developers to deliver housing schemes both through planning applications and through the Local 
Plan Review to ensure that the Council continues to meet the needs of local residents.   

*(Please note these are provisional figures and will be confirmed at the end of the year through the publication of the Annual Position         
Statement)  

Current     
Status 81



Page 45 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 Quarter 2 

 
KPI ID : Housing That Meets The Needs Of All Residents 9 

Status : 
Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 

        

Action : Ensure that major developments in South Kesteven are high quality, with sustainable, good design.  

Responsible Post : 
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy and Director of Growth 

and Culture   
Measured : 6 Monthly 

What does Success Look 
Like : 

Developments that satisfy the requirements of the emerging district-wide design guidance and which meet the 
latest standards for carbon-reducing housing design.  

Measure  Target  Target Period  Achieved  
Status History 

Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 

Residential developments of 
10 dwellings or more should 

perform positively when     
assessed against Building 

for a Healthy Life  

50% 6 Monthly 50% 

    
Commentary : The Planning team operates a pre-application advice service which includes Design PAD. Design PAD is a monthly meeting 
that brings together different disciplines to provide feedback on development proposals. The aim is to improve design quality and bringing   
people together is an efficient and effective way of achieving the desired results. Collaboration between the key disciplines such as planning, 
highways, local lead flood authority, the drainage board, urban design, conservation and landscape. The Design PAD is also used in relation to 
planning applications. In Q2 the Design PAD has reviewed 4 pre-application schemes, 4 planning applications and the a draft masterplan for a 
development in Barrowby. Design PAD was particularly successful in securing amendments to a development in Colsterworth which was      
approved at Planning Committee in September.  

The Council also uses the Building for Healthy Life scheme which is a design tool for creating places that are better for people and nature. This 
is a very useful tool although no schemes have been assessed in Q2 against the Building for Healthy Life criteria.   

 

Current     
Status   

82



 
 

       

Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
 

8 December 2022 
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 

 

 

Progress report on Choice-based lettings in line 

with the Housing Allocation Policy 
 

Report Author 

Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services  

  Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report seeks to update the Committee on progress in relation to the implementation 

of Choice-Based Lettings following the adoption of the Housing Allocation Policy. 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

That the Committee: 

1. That the Committee notes the latest progress of the choice-based lettings 
process and that full procurement procedures have been followed.  

2. The Committee recommends to Cabinet the procurement of the Choice-
Based Lettings system to meet the requirements of our Housing Allocations 
Policy. 

 

 

 

 

83

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The costs associated with the implementation and annual licence costs for the 

additional module will be met from the Housing Revenue Account budgets.  

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 Choice Based Lettings is an established legally compliant method for the 

allocation of Social Housing. 

 

Completed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer 

 

Safeguarding 

 

1.3 The adopted Allocations Policy ensures those residents most at need will have 

priority when it comes to the housing register. The Choice Based Lettings system 

shall enable visibility of all homes available to bid on, increasing choice and 

transparency.  

 

Completed by: Craig Spence, Acting Director of Housing 

 

 

 

 

 

84



2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local 

authority, the Council has around 5,900 properties.  

 

2.2 The Council currently has a register of around 1500 live applications.  In 2021/22, 

327 properties in the Councill’s own housing stock were re-let, and a further 189 

allocations were made in respect of other social housing providers within South 

Kesteven. 

 

2.3 The Housing Allocations Policy approved by Cabinet in July 2022 placed an 

emphasis on a change in our approach to a Choice Based Lettings scheme (CBL). 

Enabling the main principles within the policy listed below to be delivered:   

 

• be transparent and easily understood by customers, staff, Elected 

Members and partner organisations  

• help prevent homelessness and support the Council’s homelessness 

strategy  

• widen choice and be more accessible  

• reflect local needs and encompass rural sensitivities  

• make the most effective use of the housing stock  

• ensure equality of opportunity in accessing the Housing Register  

• be easy to administer  

• to ensure customers are treated fairly, individually and in accordance with 

the commitment to equality and diversity.  

• promote mobility 

• be open and accountable  

• help tackle low demand  

• promote sustainable tenancies by ensuring adequate support is available 

for vulnerable people  

• to provide feedback to Customers about homes let through the choice-

based lettings scheme 

System Procurement 

2.4 To enable the Council to implement CBL we were required to procure a system 

to manage the CBL process. The procurement process was initiated in 

September 2022. Welland Procurement were engaged in the process from the 

beginning to ensure compliance. The procurement was undertaken via the G-

Cloud, digital marketplace framework. 

85



2.5 Following searches of the framework utilising our identified key criteria there was 

only one supplier option, which enables us to direct award the contract to that 

supplier. The key criteria agreed for use on the search by the Assistant Director 

of Housing, Head of Housing and Housing Options Team Manager can be found 

as Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria. 

2.6 Following identification of the supplier, they have delivered a system 

demonstration, which reassured us of the viability and capability of the system 

along with an implementation timeline. The implementation shall require 

dedicated resource which we have a plan to deliver against. 

2.7 The contract award is due to be presented at Cabinet in December 2022, if this 

contract award is approved, we shall progress with the implementation with an 

indicative timeline shown in Appendix 2 – CBL Implementation Indicative 

Timeline. 

Implementation 

2.8 There are three key stages to the proposed implantation of CBL, these are, 

System Configuration, Applicant re-registration and Go-Live. 

2.9 System Configuration, this is where we tailor the system to match the needs of 

our allocation policy, compiling the questions and subsequent evidence needed 

to enable the correct banding of every applicant on the register.  

2.10 Applicant re-registration, this shall be a 10-week process whereby all existing 

applicants shall be contacted and advised of their need to re-register for CBL. 

The applications shall be input online by the applicant with an offer for those 

unable to complete online for an officer to aid with this process. During this 

period our Housing Register shall be closed for new applications apart from 

those most at need to enable the effective transition from one system to another. 

During this time we shall of course continue to re-let properties from the existing 

Housing Waiting List.  

2.11 Go-Live, this is planned for Quarter 2, 2023. This is the point in time when all 

properties and subsequent allocations shall be undertaken via the CBL system. I 

suggest that at a future Committee meeting post the Go-Live we present the 

system and how it works to provide an overview and understanding for members. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 This report informs Committee of the progress made towards the implementation 

of the adopted Allocations Policy. 

 

3.2 To enable Choice Based Lettings, the Council requires a system to manage this 

process, a fully compliant procurement process has been followed. 

 

 

 

 

86



4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 The report provides committee with an update on the implementation of CBL in 

line with the recently adopted Allocations Policy. 

 

4.2 A compliant procurement process has been followed resulting in a supplier being 

identified that can fulfil our requirements.  

 

5. Appendices 
 

5.1 Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria 

 Appendix 2 – CBL Implementation Indicative Timeline 

 

87



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria 

 

The G-Cloud framework requires a key search on certain words to match the requirements required 

from suppliers, following consultation between the Acting Director, Head of Housing and Housing 

Options Manager the below key words were input to the G-Cloud search criteria. 

 

Choice based lettings                    Main system aim 

Register                                           Inclusion of register 

Mobile friendly                              Enable access via multiple/any device/platform 

Self-service                                     Enabling customer choice 

Social housing                                Our sector 

Reporting                                        Ability to enable effective KPI reporting 

Integration                                     Requirement to interface with existing systems, QL Yuneo 

 

Upon inserting the above key words/criteria we were left with one supplier HUME. 

89

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



91

A
ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2022-23 

Chairman: Councillor Sarah Trotter 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Barry Dobson 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
 

CORPORATE PRIORITY 
 

8 December 2022 

Regulatory compliance Update to be provided at each 
meeting for the duration of the non-
compliance notice. To include 
Tenant Engagement Feedback. 
 
Lead Officer: 
Craig Spence (Assistant Director 
for Housing) 
 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the Committee 
on 11 March 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Armed Forces – 
Advocacy and 
Community 
Engagement 

Lead Officer:  
Carol Drury (Community 
Engagement and Policy 
Development Officer) 
 
 
 
 

To update members on 
implications of the new 
Armed Forces Act, 
aspirations under the  
Armed Forces Covenant 
and work of the Armed 
Forces officer  

Update on the work of the 
Armed Forces Officer as 
requested by CMT. 

Growth and economy 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Healthy and strong 
communities 

High performing 
Council 

Energy Efficiency – 
Grant Funding 
 

Lead Officer:  
Craig Spence (Assistant Director 
for Housing) 
 

Update Committee on the 
energy efficiency 
measures being delivered 
within the Council’s 
housing stock through 
grant funding that has 
been awarded to deliver 
these improvements and 

Requested by CMT Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

93

A
genda Item

 12



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
 

CORPORATE PRIORITY 
 

to inform of the recent 
submission to the Social 
Housing Decarbonisation 
Fund (SHDF). 

Mid-term performance 
indicators 

To review the levels of progress in 
mid-term performance against the 
Corporate Plan Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) for 2022/23 
 
Lead Officer: Debbie Roberts 
(Organisational Development 
and Change Manager) 

To ensure accountability 
to residents and to 
enable challenge where 
necessary 

Standing item for mid-
year KPIs 

High performing 
Council 

Progress report on 
Choice-based lettings 
in line with the Housing 
Allocation Policy 

Lead Officer:  
Craig Spence (Assistant Director 
for Housing) 
 

Update the Committee on 
progress in relation to the 
implementation of 
Choice-Based Lettings 
following the adoption of 
the Housing Allocation 
Policy. 
 
 
 

Previous Rural OSC 
meeting  

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

9 February 2023 

Change4Lincs Update Lead Officer:  
Craig Spence (Assistant Director 
for Housing) 
 
 

   

94



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
 

CORPORATE PRIORITY 
 

Equalities Annual 
Position Statement 

Lead Officer: 
Carol Drury (Community 
Engagement and Policy 
Development Officer) 
 

To share the Equalities 
Annual Position 

Statement for 2021/22 for 
comment prior to its 

publication.  The 
publication of this 

document is a 
requirement under the 

Equality Act 2010. 

Brought to the Rural and 
Communities OSC 

annually to allow for 
comment from Members 

High Performing 
Council 

Lincolnshire Health 
and Wellbeing 
Strategy  

Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield 
(Assistant Director for Culture 
and Leisure)  

To consider the work 
undertaken to develop a 
County wide health and 

wellbeing strategy and to 
provide a 

recommendation to 
Cabinet on its adoption. 

  

Demonstration of new 
housing management 
system 

Lead Officer:  
Craig Spence (Assistant Director 
for Housing) 
 

   

HRA Business Plan Lead Officer:  
Craig Spence (Assistant Director 
for Housing) 
 

 Requested by the 
Director of Housing and 
Property 

Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

21 March 2023 

     

 

 

 

95



 
 

Unscheduled Items 

Report title Issue Originated Corporate Priority 

Update on anti-social 
behaviour and community 
safety 

TBC 
 
 

 Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

Update on Cost-of-Living task 
groups 

   

Effectiveness of affordable 
housing 

   

Update on Voids    

Grounds Maintenance     

Homes for Ukraine Scheme 
Update 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96



 
 

 
The Committee’s Remit 

 
The remit of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the 
development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

• Anti-social Behaviour 

• Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 

• Benefit Claims 

• Community Cohesion 

• Community Funding & Volunteering 

• Community Right to Bid 

• Community Safety and Local Policing 

• Customer Services 

• DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

• Disabled Facilities Grant 

• Empty Homes Assistance 

• Empty Homes Discount 

• Equalities and Diversity 

• Essential Home Repair Assistance 

• Gravitas Housing 

• Health 

• Homelessness 

• Housing Management, Improvement and Repairs 

• Housing Partnership 

• HR and Organisational Development 

• Landlords Forum 

• Parish and Town Council Liaison 

• Procurement 

• Safeguarding 

• Well-being 

97



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes from the meeting held on 5 October 2022
	Minutes

	5 Updates from the previous meeting
	7 Regulatory Compliance
	Appendix 1 - Compliance figures
	Appendix 2 - Improvement plan
	Appendix 3 – Regulatory Compliance Audit Scope

	8 Armed Forces - Advocacy and Community Engagement
	Appendix A - Armed Forces Covenant Action Plan

	9 Energy Efficiency - Grant Funding
	Exempt - Appendix 1

	10 Mid-term performance indicators
	Appendix 1

	11 Progress report on Choice-based lettings in line with the Housing Allocation Policy
	Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria
	Appendix 2 – CBL Implementation Indicative Timeline

	12 Work Programme 2022-2023

